An exploration of the effects of tDCS to Supplementary Motor Complex on measures of inhibitory control: Implications for Tourette's syndrome

Sunniva Vibe Skagen



MAPSYK360, masterprogram i psykologi

Atferd og nevrovitenskap

ved

UNIVERSITETET I BERGEN

DET PSYKOLOGISKE FAKULTET

VÅR 2023

Antall ord i hoveddelen: 16673

Veileder: Hayley MacDonald, University of Bergen, department of Biological and Medical Psychology

Abstract

Inhibitory control (IC) depends on a cortico-subcortical network, with downstream effects on the primary motor cortex (M1). Hyperexcitability in M1 has been proposed to impair IC, a state associated with tics in patients with Tourette's syndrome (TS). Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS) applied over the Supplementary Motor Complex (SMC) in order to decrease M1 excitability has improved IC in healthy subjects, while increased tics in patients. In parallel, cathodal tDCS to increase M1 excitability have reduced tics, but impaired IC in healthy adults. Aiming to explore these contradictory findings, we analyzed the effects of anodal, cathodal, and sham tDCS applied to the SMC on measures of IC in young, healthy adults. M1 excitability was monitored with Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) and IC was measured from performance on the Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task. The results revealed no change in IC following tDCS. However, we observed a tDCS-induced change in M1 excitability. This suggest that tDCS applied to SMC mainly affects M1 excitability via the cortico-cortical pathway, without engaging the subcortical network important for IC. We also observed an individual response variability to tDCS, showing unreliable directions in excitatory shifts. Overall, we suggest that the puzzling effect on tics following tDCS to SMC could result from direct cortical effects from SMC, not from the involvement of the inhibitory subcortical network. Without undermining the effect of tDCS, we highlight the response variability limiting the methods reliability in the investigation of cognitive abilities and clinical symptoms.

Key words: Transcranial direct current stimulation, tDCS, supplementary motor complex, supplementary motor area, presupplementary motor area, inhibitory control, response inhibition, anticipatory response inhibition task, ARIT, Tourette's syndrome, tics

Sammendrag

Inhibitorisk kontroll (IC) avhenger av et cortico-subcortikalt nettverk, med nedstrømseffekter på primære motoriske cortex (M1). Hypereksitabilitet i M1 har vært antatt å svekke IC, en tilstand assosiert med tics hos pasienter med Tourettes syndrom (TS). Transkraniell likestrømsstimulering (tDCS) påført over det supplementære motoriske kompleks (SMC) for a redusere M1-eksitabilitet har forbedret IC hos friske forsøkspersoner, med økt alvorlighetsgrad av tics hos pasienter. Samtidig, katodal tDCS for å øke M1eksitabilitet har svekket IC, men redusert utrykket av tics. Med sikte på å utforske disse motstridende funnene, analyserte vi effekten av anodal, katodal og sham tDCS over SMC på mål av IC og M1 eksitabilitet hos unge, friske voksne. M1-eksitabilitet ble målt med transkraniell magnetisk stimulering (TMS) og IC ble beregnet fra utførelsen av «Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task». Resultatene viste ingen endring i IC etter tDCS. Imidlertid observerte vi en tDCS-indusert endring i M1-eksitabilitet. Dette antyder at tDCS over SMC hovedsakelig påvirker M1 eksitabilitet via den cortiko-cortikale nervebanen, uten å engasjere det subcortikale nettverket som er viktig for IC. Vi observerte også en individuell responsvariabilitet til tDCS, med upålitelige retninger i eksitatoriske skift. Vi foreslår at de motstridende effektene på tics etter tDCS til SMC kan skyldes direkte cortikale effekter fra SMC, uten involvering av det inhibitoriske subcortikale nettverket. Uten å undergrave effekten av tDCS, understreker vi responsvariabiliteten som begrenser metodens reliabilitet i undersøkelsen av kognitive evner og kliniske symptomer.

Nøkkelord: Transkraniell likestrømstimulering, tDCS, supplerende motorisk kompleks, supplerende motorisk område, presupplementære motorisk område, inhibitorisk kontroll, respons inhibisjon, ARIT, Tourettes syndrom, tics

Acknowledgements

This project was motivated by my interest in neurological disorders, potential deficits in cognitive abilities and their neural underpinnings. Inhibitory control and Tourette's syndrome have for years been of special interest to me. My supervisor Hayley Macdonald, whose research has contributed to the understanding of behavioral, neurophysiological, and genetic mechanisms of impulse control, allowed me to explore this field in a very exciting, educational, and professional context. I therefore want to thank Hayley first of all for generously sharing her knowledge with so much enthusiasm and for supporting me throughout the whole process. You encouraged me and showed lots of empathy when I was struggling with these exciting but challenging methodological techniques. You also gave me the opportunity to have assistants in the realization of this project. So, I would also like to thank the three Bachelor students I had the pleasure of co-supervising, Anna, Katie and Eline. Your contribution to the project has been invaluable. To my fellow classmates, thank you for your company, interesting conversations, and support over the past two years. I am so glad to have had exactly you by my side in the fight to conquer the terrifying but wonderful landscape of neuroscience. Finally, I would like to thank my entire family for their continuous support, especially little Olav.

CONTENTS

Abstract
Sammendrag
Acknowledgements
List of abbreviations
1. Summary
1.1. Inhibitory Control11
1.1.1. Measures of Response Inhibition11
1.1.2. The Independent Horse Race Model12
1.1.3. The Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task (ARIT)
1.2. The Neurobiology of Response Inhibition14
1.2.1. The Primary Motor Cortex (M1)15
1.2.2. The Supplementary Motor Complex17
1.2.3. The Basal Ganglia
1.2.4. The inhibitory network during Stop Signal Tasks
1.3. Inhibitory network imbalance: Implications for Tourette's Syndrome
1.3.1. The neurobiology of Tourette's syndrome
1.3.2. Treatment of Tourette's syndrome24
1.4. Non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS)
1.4.1. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS)
1.4.2. Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation

Effect of thes to the sivile on minorory control	0
1.5. Aims and objectives	
2. Methods	31
2.1. Research design	
2.2. Participants	
2.3. Materials and stimuli	
2.3.1. Experimental documentation	
2.3.2. tDCS.	
2.3.3. Electrode montage	
2.3.4. TMS	
2.3.5. The Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task (ARIT)	
2.3.6. Dependent measures	
2.4. Data analysis	
3.Results	
3.1. Response Inhibition (SSRT)	
3.1.1. StopBoth SSRT.	
3.1.2. Selective stop SSRT (stop-left/stop-right).	40
3.2. Excitability of M1 (MEP, RMT, RMS)	40
3.2.1. Average MEP amplitude	40
3.2.2. Average RMT	
3.2.3 Average RMS.	
3. 3. Descriptive analysis	43
4. Discussion	45

4.1. No change in RI following tDCS to SMC4	17
4.1.1. Traditional versus Anticipatory Stop Signal Tasks 4	17
4.1.2. Limitations of Current Electrode Montages	18
4.1.3. Response variability to tDCS	51
4.2. Implications for Tourette's syndrome	55
4.3. Limitations	57
4.4. Conclusion	58
References	50
Appendix B: Safety questionnaire for TMS/tDCS7	74
Appendix C: Safety Questionnaire for TMS/tDCS – Session by session checklist7	77
Appendix D: Experimenter Safety checklist7	79

List of abbreviations

- BG Basal Ganglia
- CCM Corticomotor excitability
- EMG Electro
- GABA Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid
- Go RT Go Reaction Time
- GP Globus Pallidus
- GPe-Globus Pallidus externa
- GPi Globus Pallidus interna
- IFG Inferior Frontal Gyrus
- M1 Primary Motor Cortex
- OCD Obsessive Compulsive Disorder
- PMU Premonitory Urge
- RI Response Inhibition
- sEMG Surface Electro
- SMA Supplementary Motor Area
- SMC Supplementary Motor Complex
- SN Substantia Nigra
- SNc Substantia Nigra compacta
- SNr Substantia Nigra reticulata
- SSD Stop Signal Delay
- SSRT Stop Signal Reaction Time
- SST Stop Signal Task
- STN Subthalamic Nuclei
- tDCS Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation
- TMS Transcranial Magnetic Stimulations
- TS Tourette's Syndrome

1. Summary

Inhibitory control (IC) refers to the voluntary countermanding of ongoing motor actions (Tiego et al., 2018). In order to adapt to an ever-changing environment, the capacity to efficiently suppress unnecessary and non-rewarding behaviour is crusial. Based on the behaviour patterns of young children and adolescents, the ability to inhibit initiated motor responses increases with age (Welsh et al., 2006; Williams et al., 1999a). Insufficient IC persisting into adulthood are associated with several neurological and psychiatric disorders, e.g. Attentional Deficit Disorder (ADHD), Obsessive Compulsive disorder (OCD) and Tourette's syndrome (TS) (Bannon et al., 2002; Lanciego et al., 2012; Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017; Schachar et al., 2000; Schachar et al., 1995; Verbruggen & Logan, 2008).

IC is frequently investigated within the framework of the Stop Signal Paradigm, an experimental approach in which the ability to cancel ongoing responses can be objectively measured (Cirillo et al., 2018; Verbruggen et al., 2008). The time it takes to process a signal to stop and inhibit the response is calculated as the stop signal reaction time (SSRT). SSRT is thought to reflect the integrity of individual inhibitory mechanisms with faster relative to slower SSRTs possibly corresponding to specific pathways in the brain. These theoretical developments have highlighted the existence of a neural inhibitory network, engaging a right lateralized cortico-basal ganglia-thalamocortical circuit (Aron & Poldrack, 2006; Coxon et al., 2009; Zandbelt et al., 2013; Zandbelt & Vink, 2010b)

The Supplementary Motor Complex (SMC) is considered an "starting point" in the inhibitory network. The SMC is thought to influence IC by affecting more deep-seated subthalamic regions, ultimately causing excitability changes in the Primary Motor Cortex (M1). Imbalance within the inhibitory network has been linked to hyperexcitability of M1 and neurological disorders, including Tourette's Syndrome (TS) (Bronfeld et al., 2013; Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017). The inhibitory network, specifically the SMC has therefore appealed to researcher investigating IC and TS.

TS is a neurological disorder that frequently presents itself in childhood, accompanied by tics, i.e. partially involuntary phonic and motor actions. Parallel to the increase in IC as children mature into young adults, TS patients have shown a decline in symptomatic presentation during adolescence (Cohen et al., 2013; Ferguson et al., 2021; Muller, 2007). For this reason, several studies suggest that inhibitory deficits are associated with tic-behaviour, although the underlying cause of TS is still unclear (Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017, see review).

To date, TS cannot be cured completely (Augustine & Singer, 2018). Efforts to alleviate symptoms have included medical and behavioural interventions, proving to work for some but not for others (Kious et al., 2016b). Therefore, researchers have aimed towards developing alternative treatments for TS.

Previous work has investigated the effects of non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS) techniques on measures of IC in healthy subjects and tics in TS patients. By applying transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) to the SMC, attempts have been made to temporally modulate cortical excitability and improve or restore the inhibitory imbalance suggested to underlie tic-behaviour (Dyke et al., 2022). However, stimulation protocols proving to increase IC in healthy participants, do not decrease tics in TS patients. This raises questions regarding the involvement of inhibitory deficits in the processes that contribute to tic development.

Importantly, the contradictory behavioural outcomes following tDCS in patients and healthy adults could result from general uncertainty of the neural correlates of TS, response variability to stimulation or methodological shortcomings. Specifically, previous reports have been inconsistent in assessing changes to corticomotor excitability following tDCS. Without monitoring excitability changes, one cannot establish that stimulation has had the desired effect (Dyke et al., 2022).

The present introduction attempts to highlight the current understanding of IC, by thoroughly featuring its definitions, theoretical frameworks, objective measurements, and neurobiological underpinnings. It aims to evaluate the growing research on the therapeutic benefits of NIBS techniques as a treatment for tics, and further corroborate the neurological association between inhibitory deficits and TS. The current study aims to investigate the effect of tDCS on SMC on objective measures of IC in young, healthy adults. By obtaining both baseline and post-measures of corticomotor excitability following both real and sham tDCS, the study seeks to provide complementary sham-controlled evidence to the literature on current TDCS protocols, and further contribute to the future establishment of tDCS as a therapeutic tool for TS patients.

1.1. Inhibitory Control

Inhibitory control, i.e., response inhibition, is a multifaceted term that involves the voluntary control of stimuli, cognitions and motor actions that appear goal-irrelevant to the individual (Diamond, 2013; Nigg, 2000). A distinction is often made between two inhibitory processes; (1) Motor inhibition, or Response Inhibition (RI), and (2) Attentional Inhibition (Tiego et al., 2018). RI refers to the executive ability to inhibit an ongoing motor response (Verbruggen & Logan, 2008) while attentional inhibition is the ability to avoid or inhibit the interference of salient yet irrelevant external stimuli (Howard et al., 2014; Tiego et al., 2018). This thesis considers the process of RI as its main focus.

Early reports have suggested that the ability to suppress less goal-directed solutions first emerged in late childhood. However, the current understanding suggest that RI is in fact present in the first year of life, although in its most basic form (Welsh et al., 2006). The ability then increases in dramatic developmental leaps, ultimately reaching a sophisticated level in early adulthood (Houde & Borst, 2014; Petersen et al., 2016). Inhibitory deficits are often observed in neurological and psychiatric disorders, including OCD, ADHD, and TS (Bannon et al., 2002; Lanciego et al., 2012; Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017; Schachar et al., 2000; Schachar et al., 1995; Verbruggen & Logan, 2008). RI is regularly investigated via the Stop Signal Paradigm, where performance on Stop Signal Tasks (SST) can be explained within a theoretical framework developed on the basis of race finish times (Schall et al., 2017).

1.1.1. Measures of Response Inhibition

The Stop Signal Paradigm, first developed by Vince (1948) provides an objective measure of RI (Coxon et al., 2007; Hall et al., 2022; MacDonald et al., 2014; Verbruggen & Logan, 2008). The paradigm has later been refined as the Stop Signal Task (SST) by Lappin and Eriksen (2014), and most recently by Logan and colleges (2008). The SST is currently available as an open-source STOP-IT software (Verbruggen et al., 2019; Verbruggen et al., 2008). The SST involves participants performing a primary task, i.e., the "go-task", establishing it as their default response. The task is sporadically interrupted by a stop signal, telling the participant to cancel the ongoing action initiated by the go-task (Logan & Cowan, 1984; Verbruggen & Logan, 2008). The time it takes to process a stop signal and cancel the tendency to «go» is referred to as Stop Signal Reaction Time (SSRT). SSRT is thought to reflect the integrity of the inhibitory mechanisms underlying RI, and is therefore often used as the primary outcome measure to reflect inhibitory control during RI behavioural tasks (Eagle et al., 2008).

1.1.2. The Independent Horse Race Model.

According to the "independent horse race model", the internal mechanisms activated by performing SSTs have been described as a «race» between the tendency to «go» and the tendency to «stop» (Logan & Cowan, 1984). A "go process" is initiated by the presentation of the "go stimulus", i.e., the primary task. A "stop process" is initiated by the presentation of the "stop signal", i.e., a cue prompting the subject to cancel the response. If the "stop process" finishes before the "go process", the "go process", i.e., the primary task is blocked, and RI can occur. In the opposite case, when the "go process" finishes before the "stop process", the planned response of «going» is completed and inhibition fails to occur (Logan & Cowan, 1984). This model has significantly influenced the field of RI over the past decades, estimating stopping latencies and analysing RI efficiency across different age groups and clinical populations (Kramer et al., 1994; Oosterlaan & Sergeant, 1998; Schachar & Logan, 1990; Schachar et al., 2000; Williams et al., 1999b). Moreover, based on the notion that inhibition relies on the time it takes the "stop process" and the "primary process" to finish, the model has described the probability of both inhibiting and completing the pre-planned response when the stop signal is presented (Logan & Cowan, 1984).

Calculating the probability of responding on a stop-signal trial and the probability of inhibiting the primary task primarily depend on SSRT, stop signal delay (SSD), and go reaction time (Go RT). SSD refers to the time elapsed between the presentation of the go stimulus, i.e., the primary task, and the presentation of the stop signal (see figure 1). Go RT refers to the time elapsed between presentation of the go stimulus and the participant's reaction to it (see figure 1). When SSD is increased, the "stop process" both starts and finishes later, relative to the "go process". Increasing SSD, and thus increasing the probability that the stop process ends later, results in slower Go RT. Finally, for every SSD, and the following increased probability of the stop process finishing after the go process, the SSRT is increased (Hall et al., 2022; Matzke et al., 2013; Verbruggen & Logan, 2008). Consequently, "the independent horse race model" have provided a mathematical equation to calculate individual mean SSRT (see figure 1) (Matzke et al., 2013).

Figure 1.

Visual representation of the horse race model.



Figure 1. illustrates the idea by Logan and Cowan (1984), showing how the probability of responding to the stop signal [p(respond| stop signal)] and the probability of inhibiting the prepared response [p(inhibit| stop signal)] depend on the distribution of go reaction times, stop-signal delay (SSD) and SSRT (Matzke et al., 2013).

1.1.3. The Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task (ARIT).

Following the same theoretical "horse race" approach, an anticipatory version of the SST has been frequently used to obtain objective measures of RI. First developed by Slater-Hammel (1960), the anticipatory response inhibition task (ARIT) involves two vertical columns rising for 1000 ms when two corresponding keys on a keyboard are depressed simultaneously (Coxon et al., 2016; Coxon et al., 2007, 2009; Gilbert et al., 2019; Macdonald et al., 2012; MacDonald et al., 2016; Zandbelt & Vink, 2010b). On go trials (GO), participants will release both keys when the columns are intercepting a stationary target (i.e., the GO stimulus) at 800 ms. On stop both (SS) trials, both columns stop prematurely (i.e., the stop signal), requiring the participants to inhibit their lift response by continuing to depress both keys. The time it takes to process the columns stopping prior to the target and cancel the lifting response is reflected in the SSRT (Hall et al., 2022).

On selective stop trials (SL/SR), only one of the columns will stop prematurely, while the other will keep rising against the target line. Participants are required to depress the key corresponding to the column that stopped, while lifting the key corresponding to the column that is still rising, attempting to intercept the target (Hall et al., 2022). SL/SR trials activate selective behavioral response cancelation, rather than a non-selective neural level cancelation (Coxon et al., 2009; MacDonald et al., 2014; Macdonald et al., 2012; Wadsley et al., 2019).

Anticipatory SSTs hold some advantages over the more traditional versions. Contrary to conventional SSTs (e.g., "choice-reaction stop-signal tasks"), requiring an "as fast as possible" response to the stop signal, ARIT involve participants making anticipated, more internally generated responses, aiming to stop the rising columns to intercept the predefined stationary target. The stationary target creates consistency in movement preparation and initiation, making it possible to avoid the occurrence of «strategic slowing» (Verbruggen et al., 2013) typically observed in traditional SSTs. «Strategic slowing» involves the tendency to intentionally slow down responses on GO trials in order to respond successfully to an upcoming stop signal. This can influence GO RT distributions, resulting in invalid SSRT calculations (Verbruggen et al., 2013). By restricting the range of RTs on GO trials around the stationary target, "strategic slowing" is substantially reduced, making it one of ARITs major benefits (Dambacher et al., 2014; He et al., 2022; Leunissen et al., 2017).

Neuroscientific approaches investigating the efficiency of "going" and "stopping" have focused on locating these processes in a structural framework in the brain. Specifically, responses on STOP and GO trials completing SSTs have been found to engage different GABAergic and glutaminergic pathways within Basal ganglia (BG). Therefore, measures on SSTs have been thought to reflect the efficiency of a neural inhibitory network (Allen et al. 2018; Aron et al. 2003; Aron and Poldrack 2006; Chen et al. 2020; Coxon et al. 2009; Dunovan et al. 2015; Li et al. 2008; Maizey et al. 2020; Ray et al. 2012, in Hall et al., 2022).

1.2. The Neurobiology of Response Inhibition

On an implementational level, neural inhibition is initiated by the transmitting of chemical signalling substances from one area of brain to another (Aron, 2007). Gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA) is recognized as the main inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain. By releasing GABA across the synaptic cleft, inhibition is induced in the target neuron, creating an inhibitory postsynaptic potential (Sheffler et al., 2023). Inhibitory projections help suppress or cancel further neural signalling by decreasing excitability and preventing action potentials to fire. On the other hand, glutamate is the main excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain, having an excitatory effect on receiving neurons, when released to the extracellular fluid. Excitatory projections facilitate neural communication by promoting the firing of action potentials (Zhou & Danbolt, 2014).

RI depends on GABAergic and glutaminergic projections within a right-lateralized cortico-subcortical circuit, with downstream effects on the primary motor cortex (M1). The circuit has been referred to as an inhibitory network, and engages Supplementary Motor Complex (SMC), Inferior Frontal Gyrus (IFG), pathways within the BG, and Primary Motor Cortex (M1) (Aron & Poldrack, 2006; Coxon et al., 2009; Zandbelt et al., 2013; Zandbelt & Vink, 2010b). Movement and movement inhibition is regulated and expressed appropriately by activation travelling via distinct pathways within the network (further described in section 1.2.3.: "The Basal Ganglia"). Of most importance to this study is the SMC, the BG and the M1. A brief description of their anatomical features, functions and connectivity will be presented below.

1.2.1. The Primary Motor Cortex (M1).

Located in the precentral gyrus of the frontal lobe, the Primary Motor Cortex (M1) plays an important role in overall motor decisions (Barnes, 2014, p. 174; Bhattacharjee et al., 2021; Hooks et al., 2013; Yu & Zuo, 2011). Specific locations on the M1 contralaterally regulate distinct muscle groups, and a topographic representation of various parts of the body called the motor homunculus descends along the precentral gyrus. The degree of control M1 holds over the area corresponds to the size of the muscle representation (see figure 2).

Figure 2.

The Motor Homunculus.



Figure 2. shows the Motor homunculus, a visual representation of the topographic body map located in the M1 (De Brigard & Sinnott-Armstrong, 2022).

For specific voluntary movements to be executed, pyramidal cells in the motor cortex as part of the corticospinal tract activate alpha motor neurons in the spinal cord. Activation then travels through the peripheral nerve system, before terminating in the target contralateral muscle inducing an action potential, causing it to contract (Doyal et al., 2022). Previous studies have revealed that stimulating specific motor representations in the motor cortex will cause the target muscle to contract.

To control movement, the M1 depends on input from various areas of the brain. These inputs are divided into thalamocortical and cortico-cortical projections (see figure 3). The thalamocortical connection involves thalamic neurons projecting to M1 with information from other more integrated parts of the brain like cerebellum and the BG (Middleton & Strick,

2000). Cortico-cortical connections involves direct input from other cortical areas including the SMC (Lee et al., 2022). Depending on the GABAergic (inhibitory) or glutamatergic (excitatory) nature of the M1 input, movement is initiated or inhibited. Excitatory signals will excite M1 and cause movement, whereas inhibitory signals will decrease M1 excitability and facilitate response inhibition. When the corticocortical-subthalamic network is disrupted, the clinical state of hyperexcitability of M1 can occur. M1 hyperexcitability has been associated with involuntary motor actions often observed in movements disorders such as TS (Thomalla et al., 2014, in Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017). While previous research has failed to identify cause of hyperexcitability, deficit within the BG have been suggested (Albin et al., 2003; Bloch et al., 2005; Kalanithi et al., 2005; Peterson et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2011, in Bronfeld et al., 2013) (described in further detail in section 1.3.1.: "The Neurobiology of Tourette's syndrome").

Figure 3.

Simplified model of connections from the SMC to M1.



Figure 3. shows a simplified model of the connections from the Supplementary Motor Complex (SMC) to the Primary Motor Cortex (M1). The SMC can affect the M1 directly via corticocortical projections, and indirectly via thalamocortical projections via Basal Ganglia pathways.

1.2.2. The Supplementary Motor Complex.

The supplementary motor complex (SMC) is located in the dorso-medial frontal cortex (Nachev et al., 2008), serving important functions for voluntary and involuntary movement

regulation (Brugger et al., 2015). The SMC is functionally divided into the Pre-supplementary Motor Area (preSMA) and the Supplementary Motor Area (SMA proper) (Nachev et al., 2008). Neuroimaging studies have revealed significant activation of the preSMA in subjects with faster SSRTs, i.e., more efficient inhibitory mechanisms, compared to slower ones (Li et al., 2008). This has implied that the preSMA plays an important role in inhibition. Furthermore, PreSMA has been associated with movement selection, preparation, and sequencing, while the SMA proper has been related to movement execution (Akkal et al., 2007). The two structures also differ in their connectivity to other areas of the brain. While the SMA proper has direct corticocortical projections to M1, preSMA does not. Nevertheless, both structures have been considered important targets of BG output (Hiroshima et al., 2014), indirectly effecting M1 via thalamocortical projections (see figure 3). However, separating the the preSMA and SMA proper using techniques such as tDCS has proven challenging, as the large electrodes commonly used lack focality. For this reason, both structures will hereafter be collectively referred to as the SMC.

When RI is initiated, the SMC is thought to affect M1 indirectly by projecting GABAergic (inhibitory) signals onto downstream BG and thalamic areas, leading to decreased M1 excitability and the cancelation motor actions (Aron & Poldrack, 2006; Coxon et al., 2009; Zandbelt et al., 2013; Zandbelt & Vink, 2010b). Conversely, increased M1 excitability has been associated with unregulated motor activity, impaired RI and tics (Thomalla et al., 2014, in Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017). Theoretically, a way to rectify the excess M1 activity would be to increase activity in the SMC, resulting in increased inhibition of the inhibitory components controlling the thalamus, reducing the thalamocortical drive and ultimately reduce excitability in M1. Accordingly, decreasing activity in the SMC would increase thalamocortical drive, hence increasing M1 excitability. Indeed, this pattern has been observed when non-invasive brain stimulation has been applied to young healthy adults to increase or decrease SMC activity (discussed in section 1.4.1.1.: "The effect of tDCS on RI in healthy adults").

As illustrated in figure 3, the SMC also affects the M1 directly via glutaminergic cortico-cortical connections (Hiroshima et al., 2014). Therefore, exciting the SMC could directly excite motor neurons in the M1, increasing tonic excitability and impairing inhibitory mechanisms. Likewise, decreasing SMC could also decrease activity in M1, ultimately improving RI. It remains to be investigated whether excitability of M1, and hence the reinforcement or reduction of RI, is predominantly affected by subcortical or corticocortical

pathways resulting from SMC modulation. Imbalance to the pathways affecting M1 excitability and the potential to result in M1 hyperexcitability, has been associated with several clinical conditions, including TS (Bronfeld et al., 2013; Lanciego et al., 2012; Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017).

1.2.3. The Basal Ganglia.

The BG is a collection of interconnected subcortical structures, important for coordinating motor activity. In the strictest sense, its main components include Nucleus Caudate and Putamen (collectively referred to as the Striatum), and the Globus Pallidus (GP). GP is divided into the internal (GPi) and the external (GPe) segment. The thalamus, subthalamus (STN), and the substantia nigra (SN) are referred to as related nuclei (Javed & Cascella, 2023; Lanciego et al., 2012) on the basis of their contribution to optimal BG function. SN is divided into SN pars reticulata (SNr) and pars compacta (SNc). When stimuli are registered, the striatum i.e., the main input nuclei, receives and processes information from cortical and thalamic areas. BG output nuclei (GPi and SNr) project information back to the thalamus, which in turn projects to cortical areas, closing the neural circuit (Lanciego et al., 2012; Milardi et al., 2019).

By ultimately effecting M1 excitability, information travelling via specific pathways within the BG have shown to produce opposite effects on motor control. These functionally contrasting pathways include the "direct pathway", involved in movement initiation, the "indirect pathway" involved in movement inhibition, and the "hyper direct pathway", involved in fast inhibition. "Direct" activation initiates movement by glutaminergic projections from the cortex stimulating striatal neurons to release GABA onto GPi and SNr. In order to prevent excess thalamic activation of motor neurons in the cortex and the initiation of unwanted movement, GPi and SNr exert a continuously inhibitory control over thalamic nuclei. When GPi and SNr are inhibited, their inhibition of thalamus is "lifted", resulting in thalamic disinhibition. Consequently, thalamocortical drive is increased and movement is initiated (see figure 4) (Lanciego et al., 2012; Milardi et al., 2019). Importantly, the SNc contributes to the direct pathway with its release of dopamine onto striatum via the nigrostriatal tract. The transmitted dopamine synapse on two distinct types of dopamine receptive striatal neurons; D1 and D2 receptor neurons. D1 receptor neurons have inhibitory projections to GPi, contributing to the disinhibition of thalamic nuclei to excite motor neurons in the cortex and facilitate the direct pathwa. On the other hand, D2 receptor neurons assist with movement inhibition via the indirect pathway detailed below (Barnes, 2014, p. 333-334). The "indirect" pathway inhibits movement via glutaminergic projecting from the cortex causing GABAergic neurons in the striatum to activate. Striatal GABAergic neurons inhibit the GPe, resulting in pallidal disinhibition and the cessation of its inhibitory effect on the STN. Therefore, STN stimulates GABAergic neurons in the GPi and SNr, causing an increased inhibition of thalamus. In turn, thalamocortical drive is reduced, and movement is inhibited (see figure 4) (Lanciego et al., 2012; Milardi et al., 2019). The synapse of nigrostriatal dopamine on D2 receptor neurons facilitates the indirect pathway. D2 receptor neurons have excitatory projections to the GPe, contributing to the area's inhibition of STN, blocking its activation of the cortex (Barnes, 2014, p. 333-334).

The main difference between the "direct" and the "indirect" pathway depends on whether SNr and GPi are inhibited or excited. As SNr/GPi sends inhibitory projections onto thalamic neurons, they have an indirect inhibitory control over motor neurons in the cortex. When the inhibitory effect on thalamus from SN is inhibited, or «turned off», the thalamus has increased drive to the cortex and initiate movement. When SN is excited, its inhibitory effects on thalamus will be increased, and thalamus drive back to the cortex will decrease, contributing to RI.

Later research has introduced a third BG pathway, operating faster than both the "direct" and "indirect" route. The "hyper direct" pathway involves direct projections from the cortex onto STN, causing it to excite the GPi/SNr without involving the striatum. This results in GPi/SNr inhibiting thalamic activity onto motor neurons in the cortex. The "hyper direct" cortical activation of STN is thought to block the "direct" pathway (frontal cortex - striatum - GP) in its movement initiation and contribute to fast and efficient RI (see figure 4) (Aron & Poldrack, 2006; Dunovan et al., 2015; Li et al., 2008; Zandbelt & Vink, 2010a).

Figure 4.

The cortico-basal ganglia pathways.



Figure 4. shows the three fundamental cortico-basal ganglia pathways. Solid line in black: the direct pathway with cortical and dopaminergic (D1) projections onto striatum, extending onto GPi and SNc, activating thalamic stimulation of motor neurons in the cortex. Dotted line in black: the indirect pathway with cortical dopaminergic (D2) projections to striatum inhibiting GPe from inhibiting STN, freeing the area to activate GPi and inhibit thalamic projections to motor neurons in the cortex. Stippled line in grey: the hyper direct pathway with direct cortical activation of STN (from where it follows the direction of the indirect pathway), resulting in activation of GPi and the following increased inhibition of thalamic activation of motor neurons in the cortex.

The integrity of the inhibitory network (i.e., the indirect and the hyper direct pathway) is thought to be reflected by the SSRTs derived from performance on SSTs. Furthermore, the speed of "go" and "stop" processes has been suggested to correlate with the relative activation of the direct, indirect and hyperdirect neural pathways within BG (Aron & Poldrack, 2006; Hall et al., 2022; Slater-Hammel, 1960; Welford, 1967; White et al., 1962).

1.2.4. The inhibitory network during Stop Signal Tasks

A distinct association between BG pathways and the relative performance on SSTs have been observed. Responses to go trials have showed significant activation in areas involved in the "direct" BG pathway. On the other hand, response to stop trials have been observed to activate a right lateralized inhibitory network, taking one of the two inhibitory roads: the "indirect" or the "hyperdirect" pathway. As previously illustrated, cortical (hyper direct) or pallidal (indirect) projections to STN contribute to the area's suppression of thalamocortical output, resulting prevention of the direct activation of "going" (Aron & Poldrack, 2006; Dunovan et al., 2015; Hall et al., 2022; Li et al., 2008; Zandbelt & Vink, 2010a). This suggests that STN plays an important role in stopping, and subsequently in RI (Aron & Poldrack, 2006). This notion is generally supported, with evidence showing that stimulation of the STN in patients with Parkinson's disease improves their SSRT (van den Wildenberg et al., 2006). Furthermore, faster inhibition times have been observed to generate greater activation patterns in IFC and STN, contrary to slower ones (Aron & Poldrack, 2006). Additionally, slower SSRT has been observed in animal models with STN lesions (Aron & Poldrack, 2006; Eagle et al., 2008). These observations emphasize the cortico-subthalamic pathway as a reflection the integrity of individual inhibitory mechanisms, measured as SSRT (Mink, 1996).

1.3. Inhibitory network imbalance: Implications for Tourette's Syndrome

For decades, imbalance within the inhibitory network has been suggested to be part of the neurobiology underlying TS. Of special interest to the present thesis that imbalance to the pathways affecting M1 excitability, and its potential to result in M1 hyperexcitability, has been associated with inhibitory deficits and several clinical conditions (Bronfeld et al., 2013; Lanciego et al., 2012; Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017).

TS is a neurological disorder that affects 1% of 5–18-year-olds worldwide (Cohen et al., 2013). Primary symptoms include tics, i.e., repetitive, and partly involuntary vocal and motor movements (Conelea et al., 2011), often preceded by premonitory urges (PMU) described as a growing tension that subsides following tic execution (Seideman & Seideman, 2020). Some patients only experience minor tics, and the disorder does not pose any mentionable disruption to his or her well-being. For others, motor tics can be physically painful and exhausting, resulting in injury and fatigue. Consequently, TS can greatly influence patients' daily life (Conelea et al., 2011; Conelea et al., 2013; Seideman & Seideman, 2020).

TS prognoses vary between individuals. Severity and longevity of tics are highly heterogeneous, and coexisting disorders including compulsive obsessive disorder (OCD) and attention deficit disorder (ADHD) (Seideman & Seideman, 2020; Wright et al., 2012) are commonly observed. Furthermore, some patients suffer from treatment-refractory TS where treatment is not tolerated or satisfactory (Kious et al., 2016a). The heterogeneity that characterises the prognosis, comorbidity and responses to treatment challenges the understanding of the neural correlates of TS, and the specific underlying cause is still unknown.

However, TS patients generally experience a decline in symptom severity as they reach adulthood. Parallel with the decline in symptomatic presentation in patients, inhibitory control mechanisms increase with age (Welsh et al., 2006; Williams et al., 1999a). This has motivated the theory of a causative relationship between inhibitory deficits and tic behaviour. This working hypothesis has been supported by a recent meta-analysis providing evidence of impaired inhibitory control in TS patients (Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017). Furthermore, several clinical features of TS have contributed to the characterization of TS as a disorder of inhibition (Kurvits et al., 2020). Firstly, the nature of tics is partly involuntary, with the ability to suppress, i.e., inhibit PMUs for a relative period. Secondly, increased impulsivity and reduced ability to suppress disruptive behaviors is linked to children with TS. Thirdly, although there is no cure for TS, effective approaches to alleviate tics have included cognitive and behavioral therapy Habit Reversal Training (HRT) and Exposure and Response Prevention (ERP) facilitating tic inhibition, i.e., inhibitory control (Ritter et al., 2022).

Lastly, abnormalities within the striatum, one of the major structures in the inhibitory network have been linked to TS (Bronfeld et al., 2013).

1.3.1. The neurobiology of Tourette's syndrome.

Models of TS have suggested that disruption of the cortico-basal ganglia circuit suggested to contribute to tic behaviour, is centred around deficits within the striatum (Albin et al., 2003; Bloch et al., 2005; Kalanithi et al., 2005; Peterson et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2011, in Bronfeld 2013). The main striatal neurotransmitter is GABA (Tepper et al., 2008) and dysfunction of GABAergic transmission within the striatum has been suggested as an important marker for TS (Lerner et al., 2012). This has been supported by evidence of a reduction in striatal volume in TS patients (Bloch et al., 2005; Peterson et al., 2003), attributed to a reduction of GABAergic neurons in the structure (Kalanithi et al., 2005; Kataoka et al., 2010). Animal models have further supported this notion, by demonstrating

abnormal movement patterns following disruption to the transmission of GABA within the striatum (Worbe et al., 2009). Moreover, repetitive jerking movements have been observed in rats and monkeys following the injection of GABA antagonists including picrotoxin and bicuculline (Marsden et al., 1975; Tarsy et al., 1978).

A dysfunction of GABAergic transmission in the striatum have been suggested to affect the indirect pathway in the BG, disrupting its function of inhibiting inappropriate or unintended movements. Less inhibitory effect from the striatum onto GPe increases GPe activation, resulting in stronger inhibitory effects onto STN, subsequently decreasing STN activity. When the STN is less active, excitation of Gpi/SNpr is reduced, leading to less inhibition onto thalamus. The increased thalamocortical drive results in increased cortical excitability (M1 hyperexcitability), and less inhibitory control i.e., reduced suppression of tics (Dyke et al., 2022; Milardi et al., 2019).

1.3.2. Treatment of Tourette's syndrome.

Due to prevalent comorbid disorders, uncertainty surrounding neural correlates, and heterogeneity regarding diagnosis and prognosis, treatment of TS have proven challenging (Szejko et al., 2020). Therapeutically, there is no cure for tics (Augustine & Singer, 2018). Methods attempting to alleviate symptoms are mainly pharmacological, but also include behavioural interventions and surgical deep brain stimulation (DBS) (Eddy et al., 2011). However, long-time side effects of current medications on the developing brain are not well established and behavioural interventions can be demanding for young children (Dyke et al., 2022). While DBS has showed promising results, the intervention involves invasive surgery, and does not exclude the possibility of side effects and the potential for post-operational damage (Xu et al., 2021). Moreover, the potential effects of treatment on comorbid diagnosis poses additional challenges. For some patients their diagnosis is refractory, and response to treatment interventions are not satisfactory (Kious et al., 2016a). Consequently, the need for other treatment options for TS patients is evident.

Research in recent years has explored alternative solutions, with an increasing interest in the therapeutic benefits of Non-invasive Brain Stimulation techniques (NIBS) (Dyke et al., 2022). By altering brain function momentarily and observing behavioural and clinical outcomes, NIBS techniques can provide valuable insight into how specific brain structures contribute to specific cognitive functions (Woods et al., 2016). These approaches can thereby be useful in the development of alternative treatment for neurological disorders where the neural underpinnings are still largely unknown.

1.4. Non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS)

For centuries, the notion that external forces can be used to stimulate the brain has been well-known. However, systematic investigation started only recently, with the first practical NIBS studies conducted in the early 2000s (Zaghi et al., 2010). Explorations of the therapeutic benefits of NIBS have also become apparent in recent years, with an increasing interest in approaches such as transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). Studies of tDCS effects on measures of RI and clinical symptoms including tics have contributed to therapeutic advances in the academic field of neurological disorders (Dyke et al., 2022). NIBS techniques have appealed to researchers as they are noninvasive, inexpensive and readily available, and with less potential side effects compared to mainstream treatment options.

1.4.1. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS).

In attempts to rebalance the inhibitory network and affect tics in TS patients, tDCS have been applied to areas of the cortex. As previously mentioned, tDCS is a non-invasive brain stimulation technique that temporarily modulates brain activity (Nitsche et al., 2008). The tDCS-induced excitability bypasses the active stimulation period, lasting longer or shorter depending on characteristics of electrodes (placement, size), current strength and stimulation duration (Nitsche et al., 2008; Woods et al., 2016).

By inducing a low electrical current via two electrodes placed on the scalp (either positively or negatively charged) the technique induces temporary changes to the cortical activity by affecting neural processes in the target cortical tissue underneath. The positively charged electrode is referred to as the anode, while the negatively charged electrode is referred to as the cathode (Nitsche et al., 2008; Nitsche & Paulus, 2000; Woods et al., 2016). tDCS modulates the cortical activity by either depolarizing or hyperpolarization the resting membrane potential, making the target cortical tissue underneath the anode more excitable, i.e., an increase in neuronal firing, and the tissue underneath the cathode less excitable, i. e. a decrease in neuronal firing (Nitsche et al., 2008).

tDCS has been practiced regularly over the last years, and current stimulation protocols have been considered safe by experts (Nitsche et al., 2008). This has been further supported by safety, ethical, and legal regulatory and application guidelines for low intensity transcranial electric stimulation (Antal et al., 2017) recently reaffirming that tDCS is safe for use. Aside from very rare cases, no prolonged side effects (except itching/tingling/prickling sensations during stimulation) have been reported (Brunoni et al., 2011), making placebo trials possible and allowing for interventions to be double-blinded.

As striatal dysfunction has been associated with both impaired RI and tic-behaviour in TS (Bronfeld et al., 2013), researchers have applied tDCS to areas of the cortex to rebalance and correct striatal deficits through cortical-striatal connections. By modulating excitability within the cortico-subcortical network, effects on measures of RI in healthy participants, and on tics in TS patients have been investigated.

1.4.1.1. Effects of tDCS on RI in healthy adults. Investigations of the effect of tDCS on measures of RI in healthy adults often target the SMC. With its position as an inhibitory "starting point", the SMC is thought to recruit more deep-seated parts of the inhibitory network, ultimately effecting M1 excitability and motor regulation. Neuroimaging studies have also highlighted the SMC as important for inhibition by showing that activation in the preSMA of SMC is linked to shorter SSRTs, i.e., faster inhibition, compared to slower ones (Li et al., 2008).

Anodal tDCS applied to the SMC of healthy adults has yielded encouraging results, showing improved stopping performance on SSTs (Hsu et al., 2011; Kwon & Kwon, 2013). Previous reports have found that anodal tDCS improves efficiency of RI, while cathodal stimulation applied to SMA decreases performance on SSTs (Hsu et al., 2011). Others have reported similar results, with anodal tDCS reducing SSRT, compared to sham conditions (Kwon & Kwon, 2013). These findings have also been supported by neuroimaging studies applying tDCS to the SMC during stop trials while observing functional brain activation. Following anodal stimulation, increased activity in the SMC has been observed during efficient stopping, and the activity was linked to decreased SSRT, i.e., improved RI (Yu et al., 2015).

However, the literature also includes reports of decreased RI following identical stimulation protocols in healthy participants (Hayduk-Costa et al., 2013). These mixed results could stem from the fact that knowledge about the downstream effects in the inhibitory neural circuity is still sparse. Moreover, individual variability in response to tDCS or failure to induce the desired changes in the target tissue could cause variability on behavioural outcomes following stimulation. Results are challenged by failure to record excitability of the inhibitory network following TDCS.

Despite the mixed effects on RI following tDCS, majority of findings suggests that anodal tDCS applied to the SMC increase inhibitory performance on SSTs. Researchers have therefore suggested tDCS as a beneficial clinical intervention for patients with disorders associated with inhibitory problems such as TS (Kwon & Kwon, 2013). However, before utilizing tDCS as a therapeutic intervention for clinical use the effects on the behaviours of the healthy population is should be thoroughly investigated. Such studies can be compared to patient data, providing valuable insight into the neural mechanisms underlying inhibitory deficits, and ultimately facilitate the development of treatment alternatives for individuals experiencing inhibitory problems. Additionally, recruiting healthy participants makes it possible to avoid disrupting potential course of treatment or causing patients additional stress when participating. Although temporarily, possible changes to RI following tDCS may also negatively affect symptoms in TS patients. These effects would not cause any harm in healthy participants.

In spite of this risk, several studies investigating the effects of tDCS on tic-behaviour have been carried out. Interestingly, when comparing the effect of tDCS on RI in healthy adults with the effect of tDCS on tics in TS patients, the results are unexpected. Contrary to the working hypothesis linking inhibitory deficits to the expression of tics, anodal tDCS protocols shown to improve inhibition in healthy subjects seem to increase tic severity in patients. Moreover, cathodal stimulation shown to impair inhibition, significantly alleviate tics.

1.4.1.2. Effects of tDCS on tics in TS patients. In line with the proposed link between inhibitory deficits and tics, clinical tDCS trials have targeted the SMC in attempts to address striatal imbalance by modulating excitability within the cortico-subcortical network. Puzzlingly, while increasing excitability of the SMC can induce stronger inhibitory projections onto BG and thalamic nuclei, causing reduced activity in M1, and improve thus RI, anodal tDCS to the SMC does not reduce tics (Behler et al., 2018). Contrarily, tic reduction seems to result from cathodal tDCS to the SMC, i.e., turning the area down, supposedly increasing M1 excitability and impairing RI. Previous reports have shown that cathodal tDCS over preSMA reduced tics by 46%, a decrease still present six months later (Carvalho et al., 2015). Others have observed similar effects, with cathodal tDCS to the preSMA, SMA, pre-motor cortex and motor/inferior frontal cortex resulting in reduced tic expression and PMUs, relative to sham controls (Eapen et al., 2017; Mrakic-Sposta et al., 2008; Tajadini et al., 2019). These findings question the association between RI and tics in TS. However, as SMC also has direct connections to M1, decreasing excitatory projections

from SMC to M1 could be underlying the observed tic reduction, following cathodal protocols. However, clarifying whether tic-improvement is due to merely changing tonic inhibition within M1 (Jackson et al., 2015), or by engaging subcortical components of the inhibitory network is yet to be done.

In line with the effects of tDCS on RI, the results from patient's studies also appear mixed. Despite the promising results, previous studies have observed small differences in tic behaviour following cathodal tDCS to SMA (Behler et al., 2018; Dyke et al., 2019). Causative factors for the variability in the effect of tDCS on tics mirror those of the variability in effects on RI including, but not limited to methodological challenges related to parameters and electrode montage. Furthermore, tDCS applied to areas such as SMC are highly heterogeneous (Guo et al., 2022), with individuals responding differently to the same stimulation. The literature has also provided evidence for a potential oversimplification regarding the linear effect on excitability following anodal and cathodal tDCS. Prior studies have shown that the anode has the capacity to both excite and inhibit target brain regions (Hassanzahraee et al., 2020). In addition, there seems to be a lack of sham-controlled investigations comparing the effects of anodal and cathodal tDCS for RI.

More importantly, few studies have focused on recording the induced changes in the target brain tissue and neural circuits following tDCS. This presents a major challenge when interpreting findings, significantly limiting the strength of the literature (Dyke et al., 2022). For clinical trials, a failure to measure if the desired down-regulation of cortical excitability has been induced makes it difficult to determine the existence of any correlations between NIBS induced physiological change and tic reduction (Dyke et al., 2022). This problem could be overcome by using transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) as a means to measure possible changes to downstream M1 excitability following tDCS.

1.4.2. Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation.

TMS is a NIBS technique used to stimulate the brain and measure excitability in the motor cortex in both patients and healthy individuals (Barker et al., 1985; Klomjai et al., 2015; Liepert et al., 2000; Rossini et al., 1994). TMS has been used as a safe, painless and non-invasive way to assess neuromotor function since 1985 (Barker et al., 1985). The technique has been recently reviewed (Rossi et al., 2021), it has well-established guidelines, and is accompanied by minor side effects (3 of 100 experience mild headaches) (Barker et al., 1985; Rossi et al., 2021). Holding an insulated coil against the head generates a magnetic field that passes through the scalp surface (Wu et al., 2008), depolarizing and activating neurons in

underlying cortical tissue (Kobayashi & Pascual-Leone, 2003). Although applying TMS to the SMC to measure SMC excitability changes directly following tDCS would be ideal, TMS of SMC unfortunately doesn't produce easily observed measures reflecting excitability. However, when TMS is applied to M1, a stimulus travels from the stimulation site along the corticospinal tract of the spinal cord, reaching the nerve root. It then travels through the peripheral nerve system, before terminating in the target contralateral muscle inducing an action potential, causing it to contract (Doyal et al., 2022). This induced contraction is called a motor evoked potential (MEP) (see figure 5). The peak-to-peak amplitude of the recorded MEPs is routinely used as a measure of corticomotor excitability, with higher amplitude reflecting higher excitability, and smaller amplitude indicating lower excitability (Chipchase et al., 2012; Hashemirad et al., 2017).

Another fundamental unit of measurement in TMS is the resting motor threshold (RMS). RMS is obtained by determining the lowest stimulation intensity that induces MEPs of at least 50 μ V amplitude in 50 % of stimulation, and functions as an additional indicator of excitability of motor cortex (Engelhardt et al., 2021; Rossini et al., 1994).

Using surface electromyography (sEMG), MEPs are recorded via a pair of bipolar electrodes placed on the target muscle. The electrodes register electric signals from active muscle fibres, to be further analysed by EMG software (see figure 5). A reference electrode is placed on a bony area (electrical inactive tissue) close to the target muscle, in order to filter out excess noise (Bordlee & Wong, 2015; Malcolm et al., 2006).

By implementing TMS, recording downstream effects on M1 resulting from SMC stimulation is made possible. When the technique is applied before and after tDCS stimulation, any changes in corticomotor excitability following tDCS compared to premeasures would indicate that stimulation effected the target tissue.

Figure 5.

Illustration of recorded motor evoked potentials (MEP)



Figure 5. shows examples of motor evoked potentials (MEP). The artifact at 0 ms shows the time of stimulation (Komeilipoor et al., 2013).

1.5. Aims and objectives

The major aim of this experiment was to investigate the effects of tDCS applied to the SMC on measures of RI in healthy young adults, indexed as stop signal reaction time (SSRT). It was hypothesized that anodal tDCS applied to SMC would improve RI, indexed as decreased SSRT, resulting from reduced excitability of M1. Conversely, the study hypothesized that cathodal tDCS applied to the SMC would impair measures of RI, indexed as increased SSRT, as a result of increased excitability of M1. Finally, the study hypothesized that sham tDCS applied to the SMC would not influence M1 excitability and thus have no effect on measures of RI.

Given the puzzling effect of contrasting stimulation types in TS patients and healthy adults, the present study presumed that a sham-controlled within subject's design comparing both stimulation types would make a valuable contribution to the field. By obtaining measures of corticomotor excitability changes in M1 following both real and sham tDCS, we aimed to contribute vital sham-controlled evidence to the literature on current SMC tDCS protocols, establishing if changes to the neural circuitry are indeed induced following tDCS stimulation. Furthermore, by providing objective experimental evidence regarding the effects of both anodal and cathodal tDCS to the SMC on measures of RI and associated neural components, we aimed to contribute to the discussion on the use of tDCS as a therapeutic tool for treating TS patients in the future, and whether improvements in tic behaviour may occur via inhibitory mechanisms. Lastly, we sought to highlight the distinction of whether modulating SMC is affecting M1 via cortical or subcortical pathways, and thereby contribute to the understanding of the neural correlates of inhibitory mechanisms.

2. Methods

2.1. Research design

The present study used a double-blind, sham-controlled, within-subject experimental design. All participants underwent three experimental sessions. Each experimental session proceeded as follows: baseline measures of RI collected via the ARIT and baseline measures of M1 excitability collected using TMS. tDCS was then applied (anodal/cathodal/sham), followed by post-tDCS measures of M1 excitability and finally RI via ARIT. The stimulation protocols (anodal/cathodal/sham) were presented in a counterbalanced order. Both anodal and cathodal stimulation were applied to prevent a possible ceiling effect that may inhibit further improvements in RI from cathodal and anodal tDCS stimulation to SMC. Stimulation mode (anodal/cathodal/sham) was the independent variable and behavioural measures and measures of M1 excitability (baseline and post-measures) were the dependent variables.

2.2. Participants

Forty-six (N= 45) participants were excluded due to not meeting the safety criteria for receiving TMS or tDCS. Individuals were excluded mostly due to prior head trauma, chronic migraines or genetic relation to individuals experiencing seizures. Eleven young, heathy subjects (n =11) (males n = 3, females n = 8) with no known neurological or psychiatric disorders were recruited. The mean age of the participants was 25,1 years (range 18-40 years). Each subject took part in three experimental sessions, with at least six days between sessions. Each session lasted approximately 3 hours. Recruitment was conducted through social media, word of mouth and by recruitment posters placed at several faculties of the University of Bergen and Haukeland University Hospital. At their first visit to the laboratory, all participants signed a form of consent.

Both participants and experimenters were naïve to the stimulation mode received in each session. Upon receiving tDCS (anodal/cathodal/sham) participants were instructed not to

disclose any details of their experience during stimulation, unless it felt uncomfortable. This was done to ensure that the study design remained double blinded. Upon completing their last session, participants received 300 NOK. None of the participants were made aware of the monetary gain before showing an interest in attending the study. The study was approved by the Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics and was conducted in line with their standardized guidelines.

2.3. Materials and stimuli.

2.3.1. Experimental documentation.

Participants were asked to answer a safety checklist in accordance with safe use of TMS and tDCS (se appendix B). Participants reported to the best of their knowledge that they did not suffer from any neurological or psychiatric disorders, had not experienced any prior seizures (neither epileptic nor fever seizure), were not directly related to individuals experiencing seizures, had not suffered any prior head trauma, did not experience any chronic headache/migraines, had no metal implemented in the upper regions of the body, had not fainted with no known cause, or lost conciseness for more than three minutes. Any chance of pregnancy or ongoing malaria treatment was also requested to be disclosed. Participants were instructed to report any ongoing medical treatment, and potential medications were investigated to ensure that the active ingredient did not pose any harm to the participant when undergoing tDCS/TMS or influence the experimental measures in any way.

Participants were then given a session-by-session safety checklist to ensure that any activities in the last 24 hours would not lead to exclusion (see Appendix C). This checklist included participants confirming that they had not consumed more than three units of alcohol in the last 24 hours, any alcohol that same day or, more than three cups of coffee in the last 12 hours, and had slept sufficiently the previous night. Participants were also asked if he or she had partaken in any other brain stimulation experiment in the last six months, and to report any potential issues or experienced side effects.

If participants responded "yes" on any of the questions in the safety questionnaire or the session by session checklist, they were either immediately excluded or the item was investigated further according to a checklist held by the experimenter (see Appendix D).

2.3.2. tDCS.

The study utilized a micro-processor controlled current source (NeuroConn DSstimulator) to deliver stimulation. 7 x 5 cm = 35 cm2 rubber electrodes were used, placed in dampened sponges to ensure conduction. Highly conductive electrode gel was applied to the electrodes to further facilitate the connection between the electrodes and the scalp. The active electrode was placed over the F5 region (i. e. the right SMC) and the reference electrode were placed on FP2 (i.e. the right forehead), in order to predominately target the right hemisphere (see figure 8) and the right-lateralized inhibitory network.

All participants received both active (anodal/cathodal) and sham stimulation, acting as their own control condition. To switch between active and sham stimulation mode, the study used prepared blinded codes registered to the tDCS device. Active stimulation had a duration of 1200 s. (20 min) with a constant current of 2mA. Ramping up and down was set to 15 s (see figure 6). The "sham" condition included only a small current pulse occurring every 550 ms, with the peak currents lasting for 3 ms (see figure 7). The first and last 15 s of the sham condition included similar ramping up/down as the active condition. This created sensations equivalent to the active stimulation mode, making it difficult for participants to distinguish between real and sham stimulation.

Figure 6.

Illustration of the active tDCS protocol.



Figure 6. Shows the active tDCS protocol. Active stimulation included ramp-up to 2mA for 15 s, 2 mA stimulation applied for 20 min, then ramp-down for 15 s.

Figure 7.

Illustration of the sham tDCS protocol



Figure 7. shows the sham tDCS protocol. Sham stimulation included ramp-up to 2mA for 15s, a duration of 40 s with 2mA applied, following a ramp-down for 15 s. The rest of the period included an impendence pulse occurring every 550 ms, with the peak currents lasting for 3 ms.

2.3.3. Electrode montage.

To ensure a standardized electrode montage, the study applied the 10-20 system for locating the SMC. The 10-20 system is an internationally recognized system for locating specific regions in the cerebral cortex, routinely used in EEG. Scull circumference was measured to identify each participant's individual cap size. With the cap on, the distance between front (naison) to back (inion) and left to right were measured, and the cap was adjusted according to centre Cz/Ref electrode. SMC (F5) was located and marked with washable pen. The active electrodes were placed on F5, and the reference electrode was placed on FP2, located on the forehead above the right eye (see figure 8).

Figure 8.

Illustration of electrode montage for tDCS stimulation.



Figure 8. shows the electrode montage used in the present study. Circle over F5 is the target area, the SMC. The active electrode (anode for anodal tDCS, cathode for cathodal tDCS) was placed over F5. Circle over Fp2 refers to our reference location. Reference electrode was consistently placed over Fp2.

2.3.4. TMS.

A single pulse TMS (Medtronic MAGPRO) protocol was applied to M1 of the dominant hemisphere via a butterfly-shaped MCF-B40 coil. MEPs was recorded from two 30x22 mm electrodes placed on the contralateral first dorsal interosseous muscle (FDI), using sEMG (software Pro BSL). The ground electrode was placed on a bony, electrically inactive
area close to the FDI. Before placing the electrodes, the skin surface was prepared with exfoliating pads and alcohol wipes.

The optimal cortical location for each individual subject was determined via "hotspotting". When "hotspotting" was conducted, the coil was initially held at a 45-degree angle. It was then slowly moved around the scalp on a 1 cm grid pattern. The area that induced a posterior to anterior current perpendicular to the precentral gyrus, accompanied with the largest peak-to-peak aptitude MEPs, i.e., the «hotspot» was defined and marked with washable pen (Rossini et al., 1994). Resting motor threshold (RMT) was then determined. Thresholding involved determining the lowest stimulation intensity that induced MEPs of at least 50 μ V amplitude in 50 % of stimulations. The root mean square of EMG activity (rmsEMG) within a 50 ms. window reflects the activation state of a muscle. Resting state is at rmsEMG values below 10 - 15 uV (Rossini et al., 1994).

Pre - and post RMT measures were taken to determine baseline and post intervention threshold. An additional 15 MEPs with the intensity set to 5% maximum stimulator output above pre-threshold was collected at rest before and after the intervention in order to obtain a second measure of corticomotor excitability change.

2.3.5. The Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task (ARIT).

Measures of participants performance on The Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task (ARIT) was used to obtain an objective measure of RI. The task included 250 trials, consisting of 9 blocks, lasting approximately 20 minutes. The task was administered using software written with MATLAB (version R2021a, MathWorks). Two keys on the keyboard were marked and used to monitor participants lifting and depressing according to the given trials.

Before starting the task, participants received a standardized script including general task instructions (see appendix A). After receiving the instructions, participants were given practice blocks (GO: 10, SS: 5, SL: 5, SR: 5), to ensure familiarization and comprehension of the task.

While performing the task, participants sat in front of a computer and were instructed to use their index fingers to depress the keys. The computer screen showed two columns (see figure 9), with the left corresponding to the left hand (left marked key [Z]) and the right to the right hand (right marked key [C]). Each trial started after a variable delay (400-900 ms) once participants simultaneously kept both keys depressed. Each trial involved both columns rising against a stationary target. To establish a standard behavioural response, most trials consisted

of GO trials (66%) (see figure 9, A). GO trials included both columns rising against the target, and intercepting it after 800 ms, requiring the participants to lift both fingers to intercept the columns as close to the target as possible (see figure 9). Visual feedbacks were given following each trial, with success being the release of both keys within 30 ms either side of the target line.

Stop trials had 3 variations; stop both (SS), stop left (SL) and stop right (SR), each signalling the participant to cancel their standardized lift-response if columns stopped prematurely. SS involved both columns automatically stopping, signalling the participant to continue pressing both keys down (see figure 9). SL and SR trials involved one of the columns (right/left) automatically stopping, with the opposite column still rising against the target (see figure 9C & D). This required the participant to continue pressing the index finger corresponding to the stopped column, while lifting the index finger corresponding to the rising column close to target line. Following each stop trial, visual feedback was given to inform the participant of successful or unsuccessful stopping (see figure 9).

For each type of stop trial, the stop signal delay (SSD) i.e., the time elapsed between the GO stimulus and the presentation of the stop signal was initially set to 550 ms. A staircase design with an increase/decrease of 50 ms, was then employed separately for each stop trial type (Macdonald et al., 2012), resulting in a 50% probability of success. If the stop trial was successful, the SSD would increase by 50 ms in the following trial. If the stop trial unsuccessful, the SSD would decrease by 50 ms. Implementing the staircase algorithm allowed the task to be equally challenging across participants (Hall et al., 2022; MacDonald et al., 2014).

Figure 9.

Visual presentation of trial variation in the ARIT.



Figure 9 illustrates the four trial variations of ARIT. A: GO trials, B: Stop both, C: stop left, D: Stop right. Green colour coded key represents lifting of index finger, red colour coded key represents depressing of index finger (Hall et al., 2022).

SSRT was then calculated as the time participants required to process the stop signal (stopping of bar/bars) and cancel their pre-planned movement (lifting).

2.3.6. Dependent measures.

The dependent behavioural measures were individual baseline and post-tDCS SSRTs for all trials on ARIT; StopBoth SSRT, StopLeft SSRT and StopRight SSRT. The dependent neurophysiological measures were baseline and post-tDCS measures of M1 excitability; Average MEP, and average RMT. Average pre-trigger RMS EMG was also measured.

3.3.6.1. Behavioural measures. After trimming outliers (\pm 3SD), average Reaction Time (RT) was calculated for successful Go trials, and all successful Stop trials (StopLeft, StopRight). RT was stated as the time (milliseconds) between the start of the trial and response. Individualized SSD (staircased to 50% success rate) was calculated for all stop trials (StopBoth, StopLeft, StopRight). The integration method was used to calculate SSRT for all stop trials (SSRT =nth go trial value (total go trials x probability of responding on a Stop trial) – SSD (staircased at 50% success rate) (Verbruggen et al., 2013). SSRT is the primary dependent behavioral measure and provides an index of response inhibition, with faster SSRTs indicating increased stopping efficiency.

3.3.6.2. Neurophysiological measures. Processing of TMS data was conducted using BSL Analysis (version 4.1). Peak-to-peak MEP amplitudes were calculated from the EMG data for each session over a standardized 20-ms window (20-40 ms post TMS pulse). From the evoked motor response, the root mean square (RMS) amplitude was calculated over a standardized 25-ms window prior to the TMS pulse. Trimmed averages for both MEP and RMS values were generally collected by trimming 10% of the highest and lowest values (= 4). Due to equipment issues, several RMS values exceeded the set limit of 0,01. In the case of > 3 values above 0,01, only the highest and lowest value was trimmed (= 2). In the case of < 3 values exceeding 0,01, the standardized trimming of 10% was performed (= 4).

RMS was averaged for time (pre, post) in each condition (anodal, cathodal, sham).

2.4. Data analysis.

IBM SPSS Statistics (version 27) was used to conduct all statistical analysis. A 2 X3 repeated measures (RM) Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was run on all variables of interest [MEP average], [RMS average], [RMT average], [StopBoth SSRT], [StopLeft SSRT], [StopRight SSRT], investigating the effect of Time (pre,post) and Stimulation Type (anodal/cathodal/sham). A significance level p < 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant for all statistical tests. Mauchly's test checked if the assumption of sphericity had been violated [Mauchly's test of sphericity = p > .05]. Greenhouse-Geiser corrected p-values were interpreted where the assumption of sphericity was violated.

3.Results

One participant withdrew after finishing 1/3 sessions due to availability issues, leaving N = 10 for the results reported below, unless otherwise indicated. There were three instances of missing data. One participant reported that he or she misunderstood the instructions during their first session of the behavioural task, which led to challenges with calculating the individual SSRT on all stop trials (Stop-Both, Stop-Left, Stop-Right). Another participant was excluded from all selective stop trials (Stop-left, Stop-Right) on all three sessions, due to challenges calculating the SSRT. Furthermore, due to technical issues excitability measures (MEP average, RMT average) were not collected for one participant in 1/3 sessions. The

missing behavioural and neurophysiological data were replaced using means of the overall group in SPSS. Descriptive values are reported as mean \pm standard error below.

3.1. Response Inhibition (SSRT)

3.1.1. StopBoth SSRT.

There was no main effect of Time ($F_{1,9} = 0,583$, p = 0,465), no main effect of Stimulation Type ($F_{2,18} = 1,954$, p = 0,171) and no interaction effect of Time X Stimulation Type ($F_{2,18} = 0,929$, p = 0,413, Power = 0,185) of SSRT of StopBoth. With no changes observed in the primary dependent behavioral measure StopBoth SSRT, the results suggest that none of the Stimulation Types (anodal, cathodal, sham) effected general stopping ability, i.e., response inhibition.

3.1.2. Selective stop SSRT (stop-left/stop-right).

There was no main effect of Time for StopLeft ($F_{1,8} = 0,038$, p = 0,849) or StopRight ($F_{1,8} = 0,082$, p = 0,781), and no main effect of Stimulation Type for StopLeft ($F_{2,16} = 0,246$, p = 0,785) or StopRight ($F_{2,16} = 2,051$, p = 0,161). There was no interaction effect for StopLeft ($F_{2,16} = 1,184$, p = 0,331). However, there was an interaction effect of Time X Stimulation Type for StopRight ($F_{2,16} = 7,047$, p = 0,006). With no additional main effects or interaction effects observed for both types of selective stopping, the significant interaction is likely due to practice effects. Therefore, the results suggests neither Stimulation Type (Anodal, Cathodal, Sham) effected response inhibition during the process of selective stopping.

3.2. Excitability of M1 (MEP, RMT, RMS)

3.2.1. Average MEP amplitude.

There was a main effect of Time ($F_{1,9} = 6,508$, p = 0,031, Power = 0,623; Figure 10). This arose because average MEP amplitude increased from Pre Stimulation (0,195 ± 0,030 mV) to Post Stimulation (0,347 ± 0 ,072 mV). Of note, although the Time X Stimulation Type interaction did not reach significance ($F_{2,18} = 1,000$, p = 0,387, Power = 0,197), average MEP amplitude did not change for Sham Stimulation Type (0,192 ± 0,043 mV) to (0,204 ± 0,040 mV), but it went up for both Anodal Stimulation Type, from (0,170 ± 0,44 mV) to (0,469 ± 0,184 mV), and Cathodal Stimulation type from (0,223 ± 0,047 mV) to (0,368 ± 0,117 mV) (see Figure 11). There was however no main effect of Stimulation Type ($F_{2,18} = 1,014$, p = 0.383). The main effect of Time combined with observed changes in interaction effect suggests that active tDCS did in fact effect M1 excitability as this was not observed for sham condition, however not in a stable direction as interpreted from the non-significant interaction effect.

Figure 10.





Figure 10. shows the significant main effect of Time on MEP average amplitude, resulting from average MEP amplitude increasing from the pre tDCS condition to post stimulation condition.

Figure 11.



Non-significant interaction effect between Time and Stimulation type.

Figure 11. shows the non-significant Time X Stimulation type interaction effect for average MEP amplitude. Although the interaction effect did not reach significance, visually M1 excitability, indexed as MEP average amplitude (mV) seemed to be modulated following active tDCS, compared to no visible change in sham condition. Unexpectedly, MEP average amplitude appeared to increase following both Stimulation Types. However, as expected a slight increase following Cathodal Stimulation Type was observed, although the main increase was apparent following anodal tDCS.

3.2.2. Average RMT.

There was a main effect of Time ($F_{1,9} = 9,166$, p = 0,014), as RMT changed from pre ($0,604 \pm 0,025$) to post ($0,570 \pm 0,030$). There was no main effect of Stimulation Type ($F_{2,18} = 0,552$, p = 0,585), or significant interaction effect of the Time X Stimulation Type interaction ($F_{2,18} = 1,991$, p = 0,165). With RMT being an additional measurement of M1 excitability, the main effect of Time of RMT equal to the effect observed for MEP average and similar pattern for the (non-significant) interaction effect, supports the assumption of active tDCS effecting M1 excitability compared to sham condition.

3.2.3 Average RMS.

There was no significant main effect of Time ($F_{1,9} = 0,179$, p = 0,682), Stimulation Type ($F_{2,18} = 3.179$, p = 0.066) or interaction effects ($F_{2,18} = 0.205$, p = 0.817) on average RMS. The lack of main effects or interactions observed for RMS data allows the significant effect of Time observed for MEP and RMS to be attributed to excitability, and not to the FDI being activated prior to the MEPs being evoked.

3. 3. Descriptive analysis

Descriptive analysis of the neurophysiological data revealed a mentionable degree of response variability between subjects following both active Stimulation Types (anodal, cathodal). Depending on the Stimulation Type, visually some participants showed no to minor response, while others showed a reversed shift in the direction excitability was modulated (Figure 12,13). These results suggests a certain degree of response variability following active tDCS, in addition to unreliable shifts in excitability following both Anodal and Cathodal Stimulation type.

Figure 12.





Figure 12. illustrates individual changes to M1 indexed as MEP average amplitude (mV) following anodal tDCS. As illustrated, individual response to anodal tDCS visually appeared to increase. However, six responders showed the hypothised decrease in M1 excitability, while two showed no response at all.

Figure 13.



Individual response to cathodal tDCS

Figure 13 illustrates individual changes to M1 indexed as MEP average amplitude (mV) following cathodal tDCS. Unexpectedly, individual response to cathodal tDCS visually appeared to increase. However, four responders showed an decrese in M1 excitability, while two showed no response at all.

4. Discussion

The present study aimed to elaborate on the current understanding of the effect of tDCS on M1 excitability and RI. Contrary to our hypothesis, SSRT did not change for any behavioral measures across time or stimulation type. Of note, the interaction of time and stimulation for the right selective stop trial showed an effect. However, no additional interactions or direct effects of stimulation type or time was observed for either type of selective stopping. Therefore, the effect is likely due to mere practice effects and will not be further addressed. Overall, the lack of change in behavioral outcomes suggest that tDCS

stimulation applied to the SMC does not effect RI during stop trials when performing the ARIT.

As hypothesized, active stimulation effected M1 excitability across time, compared to sham condition. Interestingly, although the interaction did not reach significance, we observed a pattern of results that partially supported the hypothesis of a change to M1 excitability across time following active tDCS, compared to sham condition. These findings suggest that the overall change in M1 excitability following tDCS might be attributed to active stimulation, not to general arousal from performing the task or mere experimental participation. This assumption was supported by our observations of no main or interaction effects for measures of RMS, as this suggests that the changes observed for M1 excitability could be attributed to changes in excitability of the corticospinal tract, i. e., changes above the level of the muscle within the overall corticomotor pathway. As expected, our results therefore suggest that the change in MEPs result from changes to excitability, and not purely from changes in activity within the contralateral first dorsal interosseous muscle at time of stimulation. This was underlined by the results for average RMT corresponding to the change in MEP average, as our study collected RMT as an additional index of M1 excitability. Taken together, although the effects did not reach significance, visually M1 excitability appeared to be modulated following both anodal and cathodal TDCS applied to SMC, compared to no modulation following sham stimulation.

Moreover, contrary to our hypothesized polarity in the modulatory direction following anodal and cathodal tDCS, M1 excitability visually appeared to increase following both stimulation types. A pattern of slight increase in M1 excitability following cathodal tDCS was interpreted as partly supporting our hypothesis, however an additional unexpected increase following anodal stimulation was observed. In addition, modulation of M1 excitability following anodal tDCS was more pronounced, compared to the increase following cathodal stimulation type. These findings suggest that while it can be assumed that active tDCS has effected excitability to some degree, it is not done in a reliable direction. The visually apparent, but non-significant interaction could be due to the standard deviation, indicating a high response variability within stimulation types. This could possibly explain our failure to observe significant effects. The idea of response variability within and between subjects was supported by conduction of an additional descriptive analysis, revealing that individual response to both stimulation types varied in both strength and direction. Despite being underpowered to enable the interpretation of robust final effects, the results from this study suggest that the effect of tDCS on excitability can be observed in unexpected directions. The main contributions of the present thesis can be summarized as follows: While in a small sample, we have provided sham-controlled experimental evidence indicating that tDCS applied to the SMC does not affect measures of response inhibition. Additionally, our findings have partly replicated previous literature in that active tDCS applied to the SMC does modulate M1 excitability across time, although not in a stable direction, which suggest a high degree of variability in response to tDCS. Taken together, our findings suggest that tDCS to the SMC directly effects M1 excitability via the corticocortical pathway, without engaging the basal ganglia circuits involved in response inhibition. These results have implications both i) for the use of tDCS in healthy subjects when investigating its effects on cognitive functions and ii) for therapeutic purposes in patient trials when investigating its effects on clinical symptoms.

4.1. No change in RI following tDCS to SMC

tDCS stimulation applied to the SMC did not affect objective measures of response inhibition (RI) in healthy adults, indexed as stop signal reaction time (SSRT) on the Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task (ARIT). Previous reports exploring RI in healthy participants have observed that anodal tDCS applied to the SMC reduced SSRT, thus indicating an improvement in inhibitory efficiency (Hsu et al., 2011; Kwon & Kwon, 2013; Yu et al., 2015). Additionally, cathodal stimulation to the SMC have been shown to impair RI (Hsu et al., 2011). Our failure to replicate previous reports may have several explanations. Factors including the current behavioral task, electrode montage and response to tDCS being dependent on current intensity, stimulation duration and individual physiological differences will be explored below.

4.1.1. Traditional versus Anticipatory Stop Signal Tasks.

The present study used an anticipatory version of the stop signal task (SST) when collecting measures of RI. The Anticipatory response inhibition task (ARIT) is primary targeted to BG pathways and internally generated responses. As no change in RI was observed following stimulation, we suggest that tDCS to the SMC mainly effected M1 excitability via the corticocortical pathway, failing to modulate subcortical BG pathways. Based on our interpretation, we assume that the task used was not fitted for the function of the pathway actually targeted, i.e., the corticocortical pathway. Previous reports of change to RI following the same tDCS protocol have in fact used more conventional behavioural tasks (Hsu et al., 2011; Kwon & Kwon, 2013; Yu et al., 2015). Classical SSTs are more externally cued, possibly creating a better fit between task and targeted neural pathway. Furthermore, conventional SSTs have shown an increased response variability for response times, and challenges with obtaining baseline measures have been prevalent (Wadsley et al., 2023). Therefore, the observed change to SSRT reported in previous studies could primarily stem from changes to response time, not changes to stop times. This suggests that their protocols have influenced movement execution, rather than RI. Therefore, our use of an anticipatory version, rather than a classical SST, could possibly explain why previous studies have produced more solid behavioural outcomes, compared to our findings.

4.1.2. Limitations of Current Electrode Montages.

The present study used moderately sized electrodes (7 x 5 cm = 35 cm2), targeting a wide area on the scalp. A challenge with using large electrodes is the reduced focality of stimulation, with the potential of modulating neural activity in areas beyond the target tissue. The electrode montage used in our study aimed to specifically stimulate the SMC. In accordance with tDCS protocols of previous clinical TS trials, active and reference electrodes were placed relatively close together, using larger pad electrodes. This can lead to current traveling through the brain between electrodes (Prehn & Floel, 2015) affecting neighbouring anatomical areas (de Berker et al., 2013). As a result, any effects to RI, or the lack thereof cannot uncritically be attributed to focal stimulation of the SMC. By altering neural activity beyond the SMC, our intended modulation could have been disturbed and unmonitored cognitive effects could have been induced. This could ultimately have affected our measures of RI.

The preSMA and the SMA proper are located within the superior frontal gyrus (SFG). In line with the role of SMC for inhibition, neuroimaging studies have associated activation of the right SFG with more efficient RI (Hu et al., 2016). Inferior to the SFG is the middle frontal gyrus (MFG). However, the functional properties of the MFG do not appear to interfere with inhibitory mechanisms, as it has mainly been associated with literacy and numeracy (Koyama et al., 2017). Still, the reduced focality of commonly used tDCS electrodes poses challenges when using the method in both general experimental research and clinical trials. While the effects of modulating neural activity in multiple areas are unclear, they could potentially have interfered with our measures of SSRT.

The present study did not account for tDCS modulation of cortical areas beyond the SMC. However, the reduced focality was partly addressed in our design by the

implementation of both the preSMA and SMA proper within the collective Supplementary Motor Complex (SMC). By referring to the SMC as a collective term we intended to avoid attributing effects or lack thereof, to focal stimulation of preSMA or SMA proper. This would be incorrect considering the reduced spatial precision of stimulation and our lack of implementing additional measures to monitor current flow.

However, the collapsing of several structures within one collective area also causes limitations. As preSMA and SMA proper differ in both function and connectivity, potentially targeting one of the two structures could have affected on our measures of RI. As previously mentioned, the preSMA has been associated with aspects of movement selection and preparation while SMA proper has been linked to movement execution (Akkal et al., 2007). Importantly, improved inhibition has specifically been associated with the preSMA, with faster SSRTs being linked to increased preSMA activation (Li et al., 2008). Based on this, we speculate that tDCS stimulation applied in our study mainly targeted the SMA proper, hence, failing to sufficiently target the preSMA. This could potentially explain the lack of effects on SSRT following tDCS in our study.

This assumption is further supported by our results suggesting that M1 excitability changes across time following stimulation, without resulting in the expected change in RI. Although time and stimulation type did not interact sufficiently, there was a pattern of results that partially supported the hypothesis of change to M1 excitability across time following active tDCS, compared to sham condition. Importantly, while the SMA proper has direct corticocortical projections to M1, preSMA does not (Hiroshima et al., 2014). Taken together, this suggest that modulating the SMC might not be influencing M1 excitability mainly through subcortical BG pathways, important for RI. Rather, it suggests that M1 excitability was affected via direct corticocortical connections between the SMA proper and M1. Considering a corticocortical activation pattern, changes to RI would not be expected. On the other hand, previous findings that have observed changes to RI following modulation of the SMC implies that stimulation did indirectly affect subcortical BG pathways. Thus, the improvement following anodal tDCS to SMC indicates a facilitation of the indirect and hyper direct pathway involved in inhibition. Similarly, impaired RI following cathodal tDCS applied to the SMC indicates that stimulation indirectly facilitated the direct pathway important for movement initiation. By observing measures of RI while monitoring changes to excitability in M1 via TMS-induced MEP amplitude, the present study can establish that we failed to replicate these neurophysiological effects on subcortical BG pathways. This highlights the importance of monitoring the induced neurophysiological changes following tDCS

stimulation, ensuring that any behavioral effects are correctly attributed to its neurophysiological cause.

Importantly, while our results at least hint towards tDCS mainly effecting the SMA proper, the preSMA indirectly effects M1 via its strong connections to SMA proper. Hence, changes to M1 excitability can occur from stimulation of both structures within the SMC, without indirectly effecting subcortical structures. The assumption that our study mainly targeted the SMA proper is therefore not to be taken as a definite conclusion, rather a speculatory suggestion. Moreover, correlating activation patterns between preSMA and SSRT are not sufficient to form absolute conclusions regarding the neural basis of faster SSRTs, i.e., RI (Poldrack, 2000; Rushworth et al., 2002). Methods observing neural activation are categorized by weak functional resolution. Suggesting causative relationships between observed activation and movement generation/inhibition is therefore challenging. In fact, the activation could simply be unrelated to inhibition all together. Reports have indicated that the mere aspect on attending to unexpected stop stimuli generates activation in areas such as the IFG (Inferior Frontal Gyrus), traditionally considered a stopping related area. This indicates a challenge in distinguishing between areas specifically involved in successful stopping on SSTs versus attending to the stopping event (Sharp et al., 2010). Still, the association between activation and reduced SSRT provides strong evidence for the importance of preSMA in RI.

In summary, we propose that the reduced focality of tDCS, leading to uncertainty surrounding the affected neural activity could have contributed to our lack of effects on RI. Further measures to combat these difficulties are encouraged, and smaller electrodes to increase focality of tDCS are needed in future studies. Additionally, including structural scans would determine current flow, allowing researchers to establish whether the electrodes target the intended cortical structure. Alternatively, implementing High-Definition tDCS (HDtDCS) would be a viable option to increase the spatial precision. HD-tDCS share technical similarities with tDCS, but its focal ability and modulating effects are thought to be superior to the more conventional protocols (Parlikar et al., 2021). This is accomplished using an electrode array of smaller, more focal electrodes (Villamar et al., 2013). Compared to tDCS, HD-tDCS is proven to induce greater effect on behavior and neurophysiological measures (Kuo et al., 2013; Sehatpour et al., 2021 in Guo et al., 2022). Previous investigations have already established HD-tDCS as an effective method for increasing RI, by observing significant changes to SSRT following stimulation of preSMA and the right inferior frontal gyrus (rIFG) (DeLaRosa et al., 2020; Guo et al., 2022). Possibly, using HD-tDCS could be better suited to investigate both cognitive functions and clinical symptoms.

4.1.3. Response variability to tDCS.

As previously discussed, our results suggest that M1 excitability changed following active tDCS, compared to sham condition. This effect was not paralleled by stimulation type or interaction of time and stimulation type. However, group response in excitability visually appeared to increase following both stimulation types, suggesting a high degree of variability in the direction tDCS effected excitability. This was further substantiated by descriptive analysis revealing patterns of excitability shifts in directions not polarity-specific to the anodal and cathodal stimulation. Interestingly, both anodal and cathodal tDCS visually appeared to increase and decrease excitability on an individual basis, while some participants did not respond at all. Since tDCS appear to induce unstable and variable neurophysiological effects, observable changes to inhibitory mechanisms cannot be expected. Therefore, we speculate whether this individual response variability could have contributed to our lack of observed change to SSRT. However, variability in response to tDCS has a broader line of challenges and implications. Although the general consensus has been that anodal tDCS enhances cortical excitability and cathodal tDCS decreases cortical excitability (Nitsche et al., 2008) several reports agree that more complex processes are at play (Lopez-Alonso et al., 2014; Rudroff et al., 2020). In fact, response to tDCS seems to depend on factors including current strength, duration of stimulation and hormonal fluctuations.

4.1.3.1. Current intensity. Contrary to our hypothesis, we did not observe opposite effects on M1 excitability following anodal and cathodal tDCS with a current intensity set at 2 mV. However, previous studies have observed that when tDCS is applied at 2 mA to M1, both anodal and cathodal stimulation increase excitability (Batsikadze et al., 2013). The expected decrease in excitability following cathodal stimulation was only reported when current intensity was set at 1 mA. These findings have been supported by reports of cathodal 1 mA and 3 mA stimulation applied to the M1 inducing inhibitory effects, while excitatory effects were observed when stimulation was applied at 2 mA (Mosayebi Samani et al., 2019).

Additionally, our results displayed a reversal in expected direction of excitability for one type of stimulation but not the other. Therefore, we assume an asymmetric stability of anodal and cathodal tDCS. This asymmetry has been discussed in previous literature, and results from cathodal stimulation being generally considered more controversial, i.e., c-tDCS being less effective or not sufficiently explored (Varoli et al., 2018). A reduced stability of cathodal stimulation has important implications for the use of tDCS in clinical trials for TS patients. As most studies investigating the effect of tDCS on tics in TS patients have come from cathodal protocols, this indicates an increased likelihood of unexpected modulatory shifts in excitability. As changes to M1 excitability have been associated with the severity of tic behavior (Dyke et al., 2022), unintentionally modulating excitability in opposite directions could increase tics, rather than alleviating them.

Although underpowered our results support the overall idea of modulatory direction following tDCS being somewhat current-dependent. As excitability effects appear currentdependent, the standardized current intensity of 2 mA recommended for safe use of tDCS (Bikson et al., 2016; Matsumoto & Ugawa, 2017) across stimulation types should be further discussed. Future investigations are encouraged to increase knowledge surrounding currentdependent variability, hence laying the groundwork for a standardized overview of the stimulation-specific effects following different current intensities. This would allow a customization of current intensity to the desired direction of excitability shift, hence optimizing tDCS protocols for the use for both research and therapeutic purposes.

4.1.3.2. Duration. The present study applied 2 mA tDCS to the SMC for a duration of 20 minutes to replicate TS protocols. Previous studies have reported that modulatory direction of excitability depends on the duration of which specific current intensities are applied. For example, anodal tDCS to motor cortex applied for 26 min has been shown to induce inhibitory effects (Monte-Silva et al., 2013, in Thair et al., 2017), while cathodal tDCS applied for only 20 min has induced excitatory effects (Batsikadze et al., 2013). This further explains our findings of increased excitability following both stimulation types across time, as we applied both anodal and cathodal stimulation for a duration of 20 min. Based on the aforementioned studies, our protocol would have resulted in both stimulation types producing excitatory effects. Such duration-dependent effects of stimulation could explain why we did not observe any changes to the SSRT. Alternatively, the 20 min stimulation period used in our study might not have been long enough to effect RI, and implementing a longer duration might have resulted in the hypothesized effects. However, as stimulation periods of approximately 20 min are mostly used, the effects and possible risks of prolonged durations are still unclear (Prehn & Floel, 2015).

Overall, our results indicate that tDCS is limited by variability linked to aspects of stimulation intensity and duration. To optimize tDCS protocols, future research is needed to address this variability, increasing knowledge surrounding parameters potentially affecting both behavioral and neurophysiological outcomes following stimulation. Such investigation

would contribute to a standardization of parameter-dependent effects. Here, we further underscore the importance of monitoring the induced neurophysiological changes with TMS following stimulation types applied with varying current intensities and durations. However, as directional shifts in excitability can occur during stimulation, measuring modulatory effects before and after tDCS will not sufficiently determine specific duration-dependent effects. Alternatively, future investigations can consider monitoring cortical excitability during tDCS via TMS, thus allowing for a more precise observation of direction shifts in excitability following specific durations.

4.1.3.3. Sex differences. Due to strict safety regulations and limited time to recruit participants, we were not able to balance our sample across sex, resulting in 70 % female and 30 % male participants. Descriptive analysis revealed a general response variability across sexes following both types of stimulation in M1 excitability. However, no stable pattern of variability between genders was observed. Interestingly, previous studies have reported significant sex-specific differences in the response to tDCS, with females reported to produce a more variable response to tDCS, compared to males. Previous reports have highlighted hormonal fluctuations linked to the menstrual phase in women affecting modulation of cortical excitability, resulting in increased response variability (Kuo et al, 2006, in Rudroff et al., 2020). During specific phases of the menstrual cycles, (e.g., the first follicular phase) levels of both progesterone and oestradiol are low, resulting in reduced response to both anodal and cathodal TDCS protocols. Progesterone remains low in the second follicular phase, whereas levels of oestradiol rise, leading to enhanced excitability and reduced inhibition. In both the first and second luteal phase progesterone increases, while oestradiol levels are moderate, leading to reduced excitability and increased inhibition (Inghilleri et al 2004; Smith et al 2002; Smith et al 1999, in Rudroff et al., 2020) This suggests that oestradiol enhances excitability, while progesterone increases inhibition. This leads to response variability in woman, while response in males remain more stable (Rudroff et al., 2020).

As the majority of our sample were female, the observed response variability and the lack of main effects for stimulation type could initially be interpreted as caused by hormonal fluctuations. However, we did not observe increased response variability in female participants, compared to males. On the contrary, a minor tendency towards males having fewer stable responses was slightly evident. However, acknowledging once more that we were strongly underpowered, we interpret these results as neither contrary to nor supporting of previous reports indicating greater variability in females. Instead, we interpret our findings as indicative of a general response variability to tDCS, adding to the notion that the effect of tDCS is not linear, but rather a highly complex process influenced by several factors related to both the individual and the method itself. A general response variability could explain our failure to observe solid behavioral and neurophysiological results.

The present study did not account for potential hormonal fluctuations by asking female participants to state their current menstrual cycle. However, establishing specific cycles prior to stimulation would require a broad and time-consuming assessment, as knowledge of current menstrual cycles is usually not quickly assessable. Still, when investigating the effect of tDCS in female participants, hormonal levels should be established prior to stimulation in future designs. This could reduce sex-specific response variability to tDCS stimulation. A potential starting point could be to implement blood tests to assess hormone levels prior receiving tDCS. As previously illustrated, it appears that the levels of oestradiol enhances excitability, while progesterone increase inhibition (Rudroff et al., 2020). By establishing levels of progesterone and estradiol in female participants prior to receiving tDCS, current intensity and duration can be adjusted accordingly, while comparable measures can be obtained during similar hormonal states. Increasing knowledge surrounding these effects would contribute to the development of individualized tDCS protocols. The potential to taylor protocols to groups of individuals with specific characteristics would allow for tDCS to be established as a more reliable method, and behavioral results following stimulation could be interpreted with a higher degree of certainty. Importantly, an individualization of tDCS protocols would significantly increase the methods potential as an alternative treatment for clinical disorders, including TS. Of note, we speculate whether physiological states beyond the fluctuations related to woman's menstrual phases could affect the mechanisms underlying tDCS, and the response it induces in subjects. As tDCS is proven to be sensitive to physiological states, e.g., levels of progesterone and oestradiol, it is likely that additional hormonal changes occurring in both males and females have the potential to interfere with results. This assumption could be addressed in future studies.

Lastly, although not replicated by the present study, we urge future investigators to interpret the sex-specific response variability reported in the literature with caution. Historically, there had been a prevalent trend of not including female subjects in scientific research in order to reduce the risk of fetial harm and general fertility, and to avoid (Liu & Mager, 2016). This has major consequences, as medications and other therapeutical treatments developed by using experimental trials will be customized to mainly suit the male physiology. For example, it has been reported that woman are generally overmedicated as a result of drug dosages being determined on the basis of experimental trials with mostly male subjects (Lerner, 2020). Considering the fact that a tendency to exclude females in experimental investigations of tDCS already exists (Alonzo et al., 2012 in Krause & Cohen Kadosh, 2014), we emphasize that rather than a source of added noise, the sex-specific response variability is an opportunity to explore the field further, increasing knowledge surrounding tDCS as an effective approach to modulate cognition and clinical states in both men and woman.

4.2. Implications for Tourette's syndrome.

The present study aimed to address the previous literature investigating RI and tics. From the perspective of inhibitory deficits being linked to M1 hyperexcitability and tics (Bronfeld et al., 2013; Morand-Beaulieu et al., 2017) the literature appears contradictory. While anodal stimulation is generally reported to improve RI in healthy participants, identical protocols applied to TS patients does not alleviate tics (Behler et al., 2018). Interestingly, turning down the SMC, i.e., supposedly increasing the relative activation of the direct pathway to increase M1 excitability, has shown to impair RI in healthy participants (Hsu et al., 2011) but reduce tic-behavior (Carvalho et al., 2015; Mrakic-Sposta et al., 2008; Eapen et al., 2017). Based on our results' indication that stimulating the SMC can directly modulate tonic excitability of M1, we propose an explanation for these puzzling findings. Alternatively, the tic reduction observed following cathodal tDCS to SMC could result from direct cortical effects from SMC, and not the involvement of the inhibitory BG network. Furthermore, our results suggest that in the context of the inhibitory control task used in this project, the direct cortical connections from SMC to M1 are excitatory. From this perspective, turning down the SMC logically leads to decreased M1 excitability and the reduction of tics, while turning up the SMC would lead to increased M1 excitability and finally increased tic severity, substantiating previous findings in TS patients (Carvalho et al., 2015; Mrakic-Sposta et al., 2008; Eapen et al., 2017).

Moreover, we suggest that the literature on the effects of tDCS on tics should be interpreted with the variability in modulatory effects following stimulation in mind. Here, the potential of responses being dependent on parameters and hormonal states should receive a distinct focus. For example, previous investigations of the effect of cathodal tDCS on tics applied a current intensity above 1 mA, with the majority applying current at 2 mA (Carvalho et al., 2015; Eapen et al., 2017; Mrakic-Sposta et al., 2008; Tajadini et al., 2019). This questions whether a reversed effect on excitability could have occurred. Variability in

stimulation duration was also apparent to some extent, potentially resulting in unexpected results on excitability. Importantly, the consequences of response variability significantly limit the reliability and the safety of using tDCS for treatment purposes. For the use of tDCS in clinical trials, altering excitability in unexpected directions may have major implications. As TS is linked to M1 hyperexcitability, cathodal TDCS applied to SMC in attempts to decrease M1 excitability and alleviate tic behavior, could have the opposite effect in some subjects, worsening symptoms depending on current intensity, duration, or subject-dependent factors.

Taken together, this questions the relationship between inhibitory control and tics. Although TS have been viewed a disorder of inhibition, a line of contradictory findings challenges this characterization by pointing to an opposite pattern. Reports have shown that TS patients express SSRTs comparable to healthy subjects, even surpassing them in some instances (Maigaard et al., 2019; Ritter et al., 2022). However, a distinction has been made between patients with TS only, and patients with a comorbidity of ADHD. Normal to increased performance on SSTs is mainly observed in children with TS only, while children with coexisting TS and ADHD have indeed illustrated inhibitory deficits (Openneer et al., 2021). Other studies have failed to establish inhibitory deficits in both TS and TS + ADHD all together (Sturm et al., 2021). Moreover, the neural substrates of ADHD have several similarities with the mechanisms hypothesized to be underlying TS, including reduced concentration of GABA (Edden et al., 2012) striatal deficits (Rubia, 2011; Rubia et al., 2011) and reduced BG gray matter (Nakao et al., 2011). This illustrates the well-known problem of establishing underlying causes for comorbid disorders. The existing literature linking TS and inhibitory deficits has not substantially accounted for the potential of coexisting ADHD, possibly confounding the results (Ritter et al., 2022). Our findings of tDCS to the SMC primary modulating M1 excitability via the corticocortical pathway, taken together with previous reports dividing the relationship between inhibitory deficits and tics, questions the importance of inhibitory mechanisms in the development of pure TS. We encourage future investigations to implement diagnostic differentiation when investigating TS, questioning the working hypothesis of inhibitory deficits being causative for tics.

Lastly, based on the previous literature and our own results, we suggest an alternative explanation as to why increased M1 excitability has been associated with tics, while inhibitory deficits have not been consistently observed in TS patients. To date, this relationship remains unclear. However, there has been observations of increased activation in the prefrontal cortex of TS patients during response inhibition tasks (Openneer et al, 2021).

56

Previous investigations have proposed the development of neuroplastic compensatory mechanisms because of long-term exposure to suppressing urges and tics (Hovik, et al 2016; (Eichele et al., 2016; Hovik, 2016). These findings do not suggest an inherent inhibitory deficit in TS patients, rather that more sophisticated inhibitory mechanisms develop as a response to prolonged exposure to suppression, while simultaneously serving as an explanation for the in some cases superior SSRTs compared to healthy controls. Possibly, the increased activation of the frontal cortex could directly affect M1 and result in hyperexcitability. In line with our results, increased activation of SMC directly increases excitability of M1, possibly contributing to an overflow of corticocortical excitation eventually leading to tics. We encourage future research to explore this further, as an alternative to the working hypothesis of imbalance to the cortico-subcortical inhibitory network.

4.3. Limitations

The present study has several limitations that could be adressed in future research. While some shortcomings have already been discussed, some additional limitations will be included below.

Firstly, the present study used a repeated measure experimental design, allowing for a smaller sample size. However, the strict exclusion criteria for participation in experiments using transcranial brain stimulation caused significant challenges with recruitment. While fifty-six (N=56) participants were initially screened, forty-six (N=46) participants were excluded due to not meeting the inclusion criteria's. This caused the final sample size (n = 10) to be substantially smaller than intended. We acknowledge that a sample of this size was likely to small for a significant difference to be detected. This assumption is supported by the results relating to our main dependent measures yielding a power below 0,8. The effect of tDCS on M1 excitability yielded a power of 0,197, and effect of tDCS on StopBoth SSRT had an observed power of 0,185. Overall, larger sample sizes are needed in future investigations of the effects of tDCS on measure of RI.

Secondly, we used a hand-held technique when applying TMS. Hence, we acknowledge the potential of variability in positioning the TMS coil across time, within and between sessions. TMS data are sensitive to small placement changes, minor changes in direction, location and position. Challenges with being consistent could potentially explain the general the response variability in M1 excitability. To overcome this issue, MRI guided neuronavigation systems could be used. This method involves a co-registration of head and

structural magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan from participants. Neuronavigation increases the precision of stimulation by providing instant feedback on how to position the coil, contributing to more stable results (Caulfield et al., 2022).

Thirdly, the present study used a double blinded design, with both participants and experimenters remaining naive to the stimulation mode in each session (anodal, cathodal, sham). However, we failed to test whether participants identified the correct condition following sessions. Testing the efficiency of blinding would further validate our study, and we recommend future studies to determine whether blinding was successful.

Lastly, due to filtering issues we had some issues with keeping measures of RMS consistent. While this was not a problem for all the data, it has implications for the interpretation of the significant change in MEP amplitude across time, observed following active tDCS. With this slight variability in measures of RMS and challenges with keeping overall values below the limit of 0.01, we cannot be completely sure that the muscle was at rest at the time of stimulation.

4.4. Conclusion

Our study aimed to investigate the effect of tDCS applied to the SMC on measures of response inhibition (RI) and address the implications for Tourette's syndrome (TS). Based on previous literature, we hypothesized that anodal tDCS to the SMC would improve RI by reducing M1 excitability and that cathodal tDCS would impair RI by increasing M1 excitability. We did not replicate previous findings, as no changes to RI were observed following stimulation. Still, our research has validated the design by illustrating that active, but not sham tDCS effected M1 excitability across time, compared to sham condition. As this effect was not paralleled by changes to SSRT, our study has two main implications. Firstly, we suggest that modulating the SMC primarily affects M1 excitability via the corticocortical pathway, rather than through thalamocortical connections. Secondly, we suggest that tDCS is limited by a general response variability on an individual basis. The variability is potentially caused by reduced focality of the current electrode montage, current parameters and individual hormonal factors. To optimize tDCS protocols and increase we encourage future research to address this variability. While we do not undermine the effects of tDCS for research purposes, our results suggests that we still have a long way to go before the method can be established as a safe and reliable treatment alternative for Tourette's syndrome.

References

- Akkal, D., Dum, R. P., & Strick, P. L. (2007). Supplementary motor area and presupplementary motor area: targets of basal ganglia and cerebellar output. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 27(40), 10659-10673. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3134-</u> 07.2007
- Albin, R. L., Koeppe, R. A., Bohnen, N. I., Nichols, T. E., Meyer, P., Wernette, K., Minoshima, S., Kilbourn, M. R., & Frey, K. A. (2003). Increased ventral striatal monoaminergic innervation in Tourette syndrome. *Neurology*, *61*(3), 310-315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000076181.39162.fc</u>
- Antal, A., Alekseichuk, I., Bikson, M., Brockmoller, J., Brunoni, A. R., Chen, R., Cohen, L. G., Dowthwaite, G., Ellrich, J., Floel, A., Fregni, F., George, M. S., Hamilton, R., Haueisen, J., Herrmann, C. S., Hummel, F. C., Lefaucheur, J. P., Liebetanz, D., Loo, C. K., . . . Paulus, W. (2017). Low intensity transcranial electric stimulation: Safety, ethical, legal regulatory and application guidelines. *Clin Neurophysiol*, *128*(9), 1774-1809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2017.06.001</u>
- Aron, A. R. (2007). The neural basis of inhibition in cognitive control. *Neuroscientist*, 13(3), 214-228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858407299288</u>
- Aron, A. R., & Poldrack, R. A. (2006). Cortical and subcortical contributions to Stop signal response inhibition: role of the subthalamic nucleus. *J Neurosci*, 26(9), 2424-2433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4682-05.2006</u>
- Augustine, F., & Singer, H. S. (2018). Merging the Pathophysiology and Pharmacotherapy of Tics. Tremor Other Hyperkinet Mov (N Y), 8(595), 595. https://doi.org/10.7916/D8H14JTX
- Bannon, S., Gonsalvez, C. J., Croft, R. J., & Boyce, P. M. (2002). Response inhibition deficits in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Psychiatry Res*, 110(2), 165-174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-1781(02)00104-x</u>
- Barker, A. T., Jalinous, R., & Freeston, I. L. (1985). Non-invasive magnetic stimulation of human motor cortex. *Lancet*, 1(8437), 1106-1107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(85)92413-4</u>
- Barnes, J. (2014). Essential Biological Psychology. SAGE Publications ltd.
- Batsikadze, G., Moliadze, V., Paulus, W., Kuo, M. F., & Nitsche, M. A. (2013). Partially nonlinear stimulation intensity-dependent effects of direct current stimulation on motor cortex excitability in humans. *J Physiol*, 591(7), 1987-2000. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.249730
- Behler, N., Leitner, B., Mezger, E., Weidinger, E., Musil, R., Blum B., Kirsch B., Wulf L., Löhrs, L., Winter, C., Padberg, F., & Palm, U. (2018). Cathodal tDCS Over Motor Cortex Does Not Improve Tourette Syndrome: Lessons Learned From a Case Series. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12, 194. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00194
- Bhattacharjee, S., Kashyap, R., Abualait, T., Annabel Chen, S. H., Yoo, W. K., & Bashir, S. (2021). The Role of Primary Motor Cortex: More Than Movement Execution. *J Mot Behav*, 53(2), 258-274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00222895.2020.1738992</u>
- Bikson, M., Grossman, P., Thomas, C., Zannou, A. L., Jiang, J., Adnan, T., Mourdoukoutas, A. P., Kronberg, G., Truong, D., Boggio, P., Brunoni, A. R., Charvet, L., Fregni, F., Fritsch, B., Gillick, B., Hamilton, R. H., Hampstead, B. M., Jankord, R., Kirton, A., . . . Woods, A. J. (2016). Safety of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation: Evidence Based Update 2016. *Brain Stimul*, 9(5), 641-661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.06.004

- Bloch, M. H., Leckman, J. F., Zhu, H., & Peterson, B. S. (2005). Caudate volumes in childhood predict symptom severity in adults with Tourette syndrome. *Neurology*, 65(8), 1253-1258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000180957.98702.69</u>
- Bordlee, R., & Wong, C. K. (2015). Surface EMG: A how-to guide for practitioners. *Lower Exstremity Review*. <u>https://lermagazine.com/article/surface-emg-a-how-to-guide-for-practitioners</u>
- Bronfeld, M., Yael, D., Belelovsky, K., & Bar-Gad, I. (2013). Motor tics evoked by striatal disinhibition in the rat. *Front Syst Neurosci*, 7(50), 50. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2013.00050
- Brugger, F., Galovic, M., Weder, B. J., & Kagi, G. (2015). Supplementary Motor Complex and Disturbed Motor Control - a Retrospective Clinical and Lesion Analysis of Patients after Anterior Cerebral Artery Stroke. *Front Neurol*, 6(209), 209. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2015.00209</u>
- Brunoni, A. R., Amadera, J., Berbel, B., Volz, M. S., Rizzerio, B. G., & Fregni, F. (2011). A systematic review on reporting and assessment of adverse effects associated with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, 14(8), 1133-1145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1461145710001690</u>
- Carvalho, S., Goncalves, O. F., Soares, J. M., Sampaio, A., Macedo, F., Fregni, F., & Leite, J. (2015). Sustained Effects of a Neural-based Intervention in a Refractory Case of Tourette Syndrome. *Brain Stimul*, 8(3), 657-659. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2014.12.008</u>
- Caulfield, A. K., Fleischmann, H. H., Cox, C. E., Wolf, J. P., & George, M. S., McTeague, L. M. (2022). Neuronavigation maximizes accuracy and precision in TMS positioning: Evidence from 11,230 distance, angle, and electric field modeling measurements. *Brain stimulation*, 15(5), P1192-1205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2022.08.013</u>
- Chipchase, L., Schabrun, S., Cohen, L., Hodges, P., Ridding, M., Rothwell, J., Taylor, J., & Ziemann, U. (2012). A checklist for assessing the methodological quality of studies using transcranial magnetic stimulation to study the motor system: an international consensus study. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 123(9), 1698-1704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2012.05.003
- Cirillo, J., Cowie, M. J., MacDonald, H. J., & Byblow, W. D. (2018). Response inhibition activates distinct motor cortical inhibitory processes. *J Neurophysiol*, *119*(3), 877-886. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00784.2017
- Cohen, S. C., Leckman, J. F., & Bloch, M. H. (2013). Clinical assessment of Tourette syndrome and tic disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, *37*(6), 997-1007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.11.013</u>
- Conelea, C. A., Woods, D. W., Zinner, S. H., Budman, C., Murphy, T., Scahill, L. D., Compton, S. N., & Walkup, J. (2011). Exploring the impact of chronic tic disorders on youth: results from the Tourette Syndrome Impact Survey. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev*, 42(2), 219-242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-010-0211-4</u>
- Conelea, C. A., Woods, D. W., Zinner, S. H., Budman, C. L., Murphy, T. K., Scahill, L. D., Compton, S. N., & Walkup, J. T. (2013). The impact of Tourette Syndrome in adults: results from the Tourette Syndrome impact survey. *Community Ment Health J*, 49(1), 110-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-011-9465-y</u>
- Coxon, J. P., Goble, D. J., Leunissen, I., Van Impe, A., Wenderoth, N., & Swinnen, S. P. (2016). Functional Brain Activation Associated with Inhibitory Control Deficits in Older Adults. *Cereb Cortex*, 26(1), 12-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhu165</u>
- Coxon, J. P., Stinear, C. M., & Byblow, W. D. (2007). Selective inhibition of movement. J Neurophysiol, 97(3), 2480-2489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01284.2006</u>

- Coxon, J. P., Stinear, C. M., & Byblow, W. D. (2009). Stop and go: the neural basis of selective movement prevention. J Cogn Neurosci, 21(6), 1193-1203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2009.21081</u>
- Dambacher, F., Sack, A. T., Lobbestael, J., Arntz, A., Brugman, S., & Schuhmann, T. (2014). A network approach to response inhibition: dissociating functional connectivity of neural components involved in action restraint and action cancellation. *Eur J Neurosci*, 39(5), 821-831. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.12425</u>
- de Berker, A. O., Bikson, M., & Bestmann, S. (2013). Predicting the behavioral impact of transcranial direct current stimulation: issues and limitations. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 7, 613. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00613</u>
- De Brigard, F., &, & Sinnott-Armstrong, W. (2022). *Neuroscience and Philosophy. London* MIT Press. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK583722/</u>
- DeLaRosa, B. L., Spence, J. S., Motes, M. A., To, W., Vanneste, S., Hart, J., & Kraut, M. A. (2020). The Influence of Pre-Supplementary Motor Area Targeted High-Definition Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Inhibitory Control. *Neuroscience*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.27.358242</u>
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. *Annu Rev Psychol*, 64(1), 135-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750</u>
- Doyal, A., Schoenherr J.W, & D.N., F. (2022). Motor Evoked Potential. *StatPearls*. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK580548/</u>
- Dunovan, K., Lynch, B., Molesworth, T., & Verstynen, T. (2015). Competing basal ganglia pathways determine the difference between stopping and deciding not to go. *eLife*, *4*, e08723. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.08723</u>
- Dyke, K., Jackson, G., & Jackson, S. (2022). Non-invasive brain stimulation as therapy: systematic review and recommendations with a focus on the treatment of Tourette syndrome. *Exp Brain Res*, 240(2), 341-363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-021-06229-y</u>
- Dyke, K., Jackson, G. M., Nixon, E., & Jackson, S. R. (2019). Effects of single-session cathodal transcranial direct current stimulation on tic symptoms in Tourette's syndrome. *Exp Brain Res*, 237(11), 2853-2863. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-019-05637-5</u>
- Eagle, D. M., Baunez, C., Hutcheson, D. M., Lehmann, O., Shah, A. P., & Robbins, T. W. (2008). Stop-signal reaction-time task performance: role of prefrontal cortex and subthalamic nucleus. *Cereb Cortex*, 18(1), 178-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhm044</u>
- Eapen, V., Baker, R., Walter, A., Raghupathy, V., Wehrman, J. J., & Sowman, P. F. (2017). The Role of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS) in Tourette Syndrome: A Review and Preliminary Findings. *Brain Sci*, 7(12), 161. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci7120161</u>
- Edden, R. A., Crocetti, D., Zhu, H., Gilbert, D. L., & Mostofsky, S. H. (2012). Reduced GABA concentration in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, *69*(7), 750-753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.2280</u>
- Eddy, C. M., Rickards, H. E., & Cavanna, A. E. (2011). Treatment strategies for tics in Tourette syndrome. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*, 4(1), 25-45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1756285610390261</u>
- Eichele, H., Eichele, T., Bjelland, I., Høvik, M. F., Sørensen, L., van Wageningen, H., Worren, M. K., Hugdahl, K., & Plessen, K. J. (2016). Performance Monitoring in Medication-Naïve Children with Tourette Syndrome. *Front Neurosci*, 10(50). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2016.00050</u>

- Engelhardt, M., Komnenic, D., Roth, F., Kawelke, L., Finke, C., & Picht, T. (2021). No Impact of Functional Connectivity of the Motor System on the Resting Motor Threshold: A Replication Study. *Front Neurosci*, 15, 627445. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2021.627445
- Ferguson, H. J., Brunsdon, V. E. A., & Bradford, E. E. F. (2021). The developmental trajectories of executive function from adolescence to old age. *Sci Rep*, 11(1), 1382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-80866-1</u>
- Gilbert, D. L., Huddleston, D. A., Wu, S. W., Pedapati, E. V., Horn, P. S., Hirabayashi, K., Crocetti, D., Wassermann, E. M., & Mostofsky, S. H. (2019). Motor cortex inhibition and modulation in children with ADHD. *Neurology*, 93(6), e599-e610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000007899</u>
- Guo, Z., Gong, Y., Lu, H., Qiu, R., Wang, X., Zhu, X., & You, X. (2022). Multitarget highdefinition transcranial direct current stimulation improves response inhibition more than single-target high-definition transcranial direct current stimulation in healthy participants. *Front Neurosci*, 16(905247), 905247. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2022.905247
- Hall, A., Jenkinson, N., & MacDonald, H. J. (2022). Exploring stop signal reaction time over two sessions of the anticipatory response inhibition task. *Exp Brain Res*, 240(11), 3061-3072. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-022-06480-x</u>
- Hashemirad, F., Fitzgerald, P. B., Zoghi, M., & Jaberzadeh, S. (2017). Single-Session Anodal tDCS with Small-Size Stimulating Electrodes Over Frontoparietal Superficial Sites Does Not Affect Motor Sequence Learning. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 11(153), 153. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00153</u>
- Hassanzahraee, M., Nitsche, M. A., Zoghi, M., & Jaberzadeh, S. (2020). Determination of anodal tDCS intensity threshold for reversal of corticospinal excitability: an investigation for induction of counter-regulatory mechanisms. *Sci Rep*, *10*(1), 16108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-72909-4</u>
- Hayduk-Costa, G., Drummond, N. M., & Carlsen, A. N. (2013). Anodal tDCS over SMA decreases the probability of withholding an anticipated action. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 257, 208–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2013.09.030
- He, J. L., Hirst, R. J., Puri, R., Coxon, J., Byblow, W., Hinder, M., Skippen, P., Matzke, D., Heathcote, A., Wadsley, C. G., Silk, T., Hyde, C., Parmar, D., Pedapati, E., Gilbert, D. L., Huddleston, D. A., Mostofsky, S., Leunissen, I., MacDonald, H. J., ... Puts, N. A. J. (2022). OSARI, an Open-Source Anticipated Response Inhibition Task. *Behav Res Methods*, 54(3), 1530-1540. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-021-01680-9</u>
- Hiroshima, S., Anei, R., Murakami, N., & Kamada, K. (2014). Functional localization of the supplementary motor area. *Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo)*, 54(7), 511-520. <u>https://doi.org/10.2176/nmc.oa2012-0321</u>
- Hooks, B. M., Mao, T., Gutnisky, D. A., Yamawaki, N., Svoboda, K., & Shepherd, G. M. (2013). Organization of cortical and thalamic input to pyramidal neurons in mouse motor cortex. *J Neurosci*, 33(2), 748-760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4338-12.2013</u>
- Houde, O., & Borst, G. (2014). Measuring inhibitory control in children and adults: brain imaging and mental chronometry. *Front Psychol*, 5(616), 616. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00616</u>
- Hovik, K. T., Plessen, K. J, Skogli, E. W., Andersen, P. N., Øie, M. (2016). Dissociable response inhibition in children with Tourette's Syndrome compared with children with ADHD. Journal of Attention Disorders, 20, 825–835. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1087054713512371</u>

- Howard, S. J., Johnson, J., & Pascual-Leone, J. (2014). Clarifying inhibitory control: Diversity and development of attentional inhibition. *Cognitive Development*, 31 , 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2014.03.001
- Hsu, T. Y., Tseng, L. Y., Yu, J. X., Kuo, W. J., Hung, D. L., Tzeng, O. J., Walsh, V., Muggleton, N. G., & Juan, C. H. (2011). Modulating inhibitory control with direct current stimulation of the superior medial frontal cortex. *NeuroImage*, 56(4), 2249-2257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.03.059
- Hu, S., Ide, J. S., Zhang, S., & Li, C. R. (2016). The Right Superior Frontal Gyrus and Individual Variation in Proactive Control of Impulsive Response. J Neurosci, 36(50), 12688-12696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1175-16.2016</u>
- Jackson, G. M., Draper, A., Dyke, K., Pepes, S. E., & Jackson, S. R. (2015). Inhibition, Disinhibition, and the Control of Action in Tourette Syndrome. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 19(11), 655-665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2015.08.006</u>
- Javed, N., & Cascella, M. (2023). Neuroanatomy, Globus Pallidus. StatPearls.
- Kalanithi, P. S., Zheng, W., Kataoka, Y., DiFiglia, M., Grantz, H., & Saper C. B. (2005).
 Altered parvalbumin-positive neuron distribution in basal ganglia of individuals with Tourette syndrome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(37), 13307–13312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0502624102</u>
- Kataoka, Y., Kalanithi, P. S., Grantz, H., Schwartz, M. L., Saper, C., Leckman, J. F., & Vaccarino, F. M. (2010). Decreased number of parvalbumin and cholinergic interneurons in the striatum of individuals with Tourette syndrome. *J Comp Neurol*, 518(3), 277-291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.22206</u>
- Kious, B. M., Jimenez-Shahed, J., & Shprecher, D. R. (2016a). Treatment-refractory Tourette Syndrome. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 70, 227-236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2016.02.003</u>
- Kious, B. M., Jimenez-Shahed, J., & Shprecher, D. R. (2016b). Treatment-refractory Tourette Syndrome. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 70(1878-4216 (Electronic)), 227-236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2016.02.003</u>
- Klomjai, W., Katz, R., & Lackmy-Vallée, A. (2015). Basic principles of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and repetitive TMS (rTMS). *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 58(4), 208–213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rehab.2015.05.005</u>
- Kobayashi, M., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2003). Transcranial magnetic stimulation in neurology. *Lancet Neurol*, 2(3), 145-156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(03)00321-1</u>
- Komeilipoor, N., Pizzolato, F., Daffertshofer, A., & Cesari, P. (2013). Excitability of motor cortices as a function of emotional sounds. *PLoS One*, 8(5), e63060. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063060</u>
- Koyama, M. S., O'Connor, D., Shehzad, Z., & Milham, M. P. (2017). Differential contributions of the middle frontal gyrus functional connectivity to literacy and numeracy. *Sci Rep*, 7(1), 17548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-17702-6</u>
- Kramer, A. F., Humphrey D. G., Larish, J. F., Logan, G. D., & Strayer, D. L. (1994). Aging and inhibition: beyond a unitary view of inhibitory processing in attention. *Psychology and Aging*, 9(4), 491-512. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/789342</u>
- Krause, B., & Cohen Kadosh, R. (2014). Not all brains are created equal: the relevance of individual differences in responsiveness to transcranial electrical stimulation. *Front Syst Neurosci*, 8, 25. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2014.00025</u>
- Kurvits, L., Martino, D., & Ganos, C. (2020). Clinical Features That Evoke the Concept of Disinhibition in Tourette Syndrome. *Front Psychiatry*, 11(21), 21. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00021</u>
- Kwon, Y. H., & Kwon, J. W. (2013). Response Inhibition Induced in the Stop-signal Task by Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation of the Pre-supplementary Motor Area and

Primary Sensoriomotor Cortex. *J Phys Ther Sci*, 25(9), 1083-1086. https://doi.org/10.1589/jpts.25.1083

- Lanciego, J. L., Luquin, N., & Obeso, J. A. (2012). Functional neuroanatomy of the basal ganglia. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 2(12), a009621. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a009621
- Lappin, J. S., & Eriksen, C. W. (2014). Inhibition of a simple visual reaction time by a second stimulus: A failure to replicate. *Psychonomic Science*, 1(1-12), 293-294. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03342919</u>
- Lee, C., Kim, Y., & Kaang, B. K. (2022). The Primary Motor Cortex: The Hub of Motor Learning in Rodents. *Neuroscience*, 485(163-170), 163-170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2022.01.009</u>
- Lerner, A., Bagic, A., Simmons, J. M., Mari, Z., Bonne, O., Xu, B., Kazuba, D., Herscovitch, P., Carson, R. E., Murphy, D. L., Drevets, W. C., & Hallett, M. (2012). Widespread abnormality of the gamma-aminobutyric acid-ergic system in Tourette syndrome. *Brain*, 135(Pt 6), 1926-1936. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws104</u>
- Lerner, L. (2020). Women are overmedicated because drug dosage trials are done on men, study finds. *Chicago news*. <u>https://news.uchicago.edu/story/women-are-overmedicated-because-drug-dosage-trials-are-done-men-study-finds</u>
- Leunissen, I., Zandbelt, B. B., Potocanac, Z., Swinnen, S. P., & Coxon, J. P. (2017). Reliable estimation of inhibitory efficiency: to anticipate, choose or simply react? *Eur J Neurosci*, 45(12), 1512-1523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13590</u>
- Li, C. S., Yan, P., Sinha, R., & Lee, T. W. (2008). Subcortical processes of motor response inhibition during a stop signal task. *NeuroImage*, *41*(4), 1352-1363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.04.023</u>
- Liepert, J., Bauder, H., Wolfgang, H. R., Miltner, W. H., Taub, E., & Weiller, C. (2000). Treatment-induced cortical reorganization after stroke in humans. *Stroke*, 31(6), 1210-1216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/01.str.31.6.1210</u>
- Liu, K. A., & Mager, N. A. (2016). Women's involvement in clinical trials: historical perspective and future implications. *Pharm Pract (Granada)*, *14*(1), 708. https://doi.org/10.18549/PharmPract.2016.01.708
- Logan, G. D., & Cowan, W. B. (1984). On the ability to inhibit thought and action: A theory of an act of control. *Psychological Review*, *91*(3), 295–327. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.91.3.295
- Lopez-Alonso, V., Cheeran, B., Rio-Rodriguez, D., & Fernandez-Del-Olmo, M. (2014). Interindividual variability in response to non-invasive brain stimulation paradigms. *Brain Stimul*, 7(3), 372-380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2014.02.004</u>
- MacDonald, H. J., Coxon, J. P., Stinear, C. M., & Byblow, W. D. (2014). The fall and rise of corticomotor excitability with cancellation and reinitiation of prepared action. J *Neurophysiol*, 112(11), 2707-2717. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00366.2014
- Macdonald, H. J., Stinear, C. M., & Byblow, W. D. (2012). Uncoupling response inhibition. J Neurophysiol, 108(5), 1492-1500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01184.2011</u>
- MacDonald, H. J., Stinear, C. M., Ren, A., Coxon, J. P., Kao, J., Macdonald, L., Snow, B., Cramer, S. C., & Byblow, W. D. (2016). Dopamine Gene Profiling to Predict Impulse Control and Effects of Dopamine Agonist Ropinirole. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 28(7), 909-919. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_00946</u>
- Maigaard, K., Nejad, A. B., Andersen, K. W., Herz, D. M., Hagstrom, J., Pagsberg, A. K., Skov, L., Siebner, H. R., & Plessen, K. J. (2019). A superior ability to suppress fast inappropriate responses in children with Tourette syndrome is further improved by prospect of reward. *Neuropsychologia*, 131, 342-352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2019.05.012

- Malcolm, M. P., Triggs, W. J., Light, K. E., Shechtman, O., Khandekar, G., & Gonzalez Rothi, L. J. (2006). Reliability of motor cortex transcranial magnetic stimulation in four muscle representations. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 117(5), 1037-1046. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.02.005
- Marsden, C. D., Meldrum, B. S., Pycock, C., & Tarsy, D. (1975). Focal myoclonus produced by injection of picrotoxin into the caudate nucleus of the rat. *J. Physiol.*, *246*, (96P).
- Matsumoto, H., & Ugawa, Y. (2017). Adverse events of tDCS and tACS: A review. *Clinical Neurophysiology Practice*, 2, 19-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnp.2016.12.003</u>
- Matzke, D., Love, J., Wiecki, T. V., Brown, S. D., Logan, G. D., & Wagenmakers, E. J. (2013). Release the BEESTS: Bayesian Estimation of Ex-Gaussian STop-Signal reaction time distributions. *Front Psychol*, 4(1664-1078), 918. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00918
- Middleton, F. A., & Strick, P. L. (2000). Basal ganglia and cerebellar loops: motor and cognitive circuits. *Brain Research*, *31*(2-3), 236-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(99)00040-5</u>
- Milardi, D., Quartarone, A., Bramanti, A., Anastasi, G., Bertino, S., Basile, G. A., Buonasera, P., Pilone, G., Celeste, G., Rizzo, G., Bruschetta, D., & Cacciola, A. (2019). The Cortico-Basal Ganglia-Cerebellar Network: Past, Present and Future Perspectives. *Front Syst Neurosci*, 13(1662-5137), 61. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2019.00061</u>
- Mink, J. W. (1996). The Basal Ganglia: Focused selection and inhibition of competing motor programs. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 50(4), 381-425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-0082(96)00042-1</u>
- Morand-Beaulieu, S., Grot, S., Lavoie, J., Leclerc, J. B., Luck, D., & Lavoie, M. E. (2017). The puzzling question of inhibitory control in Tourette syndrome: A meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 80(1873-7528 (Electronic)), 240-262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.05.006</u>
- Mosayebi Samani, M., Agboada, D., Jamil, A., Kuo, M. F., & Nitsche, M. A. (2019). Titrating the neuroplastic effects of cathodal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) over the primary motor cortex. *Cortex*, *119*, 350-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2019.04.016</u>
- Mrakic-Sposta, S., Marceglia, S., Mameli, F., Dilena, R., Tadini, L., & Priori, A. (2008). Transcranial direct current stimulation in two patients with Tourette syndrome. *Mov Disord*, 23(15), 2259-2261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.22292</u>
- Muller, N. (2007). Tourette's syndrome: clinical features, pathophysiology, and therapeutic approaches. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*, 9(2), 161-171. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2007.9.2/nmueller
- Nachev, P., Kennard, C., & Husain, M. (2008). Functional role of the supplementary and presupplementary motor areas. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 9(11), 856-869. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2478</u>
- Nakao, T., Radua, J., Rubia, K., & Mataix-Cols, D. (2011). Gray matter volume abnormalities in ADHD: voxel-based meta-analysis exploring the effects of age and stimulant medication. *Am J Psychiatry*, *168*(11), 1154-1163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11020281</u>
- Nigg, J. T. (2000). On inhibition/disinhibition in developmental psychopathology: views from cognitive and personality psychology and a working inhibition taxonomy. *Psychol Bull*, 126(2), 220-246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.126.2.220</u>
- Nitsche, M. A., Cohen, L. G., Wassermann, E. M., Priori, A., Lang, N., Antal, A., Paulus, W., Hummel, F., Boggio, P. S., Fregni, F., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2008). Transcranial direct current stimulation: State of the art 2008. *Brain Stimul*, 1(3), 206-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2008.06.004</u>

- Nitsche, M. A., & Paulus, W. (2000). Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. *J Physiol*, *527 Pt 3*(Pt 3), 633-639. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.t01-1-00633.x</u>
- Oosterlaan, J., & Sergeant, J. A. (1998). Response inhibition and response re-engagement in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, disruptive, anxious and normal children. *Behav Brain Res*, 94(1), 33-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-4328(97)00167-8</u>
- Openneer, T. J. C., van der Meer, D., Marsman, J. C., Forde, N. J., Akkermans, S. E. A., Naaijen, J., Buitelaar, J. K., Hoekstra, P. J., & Dietrich, A. (2021). Impaired response inhibition during a stop-signal task in children with Tourette syndrome is related to ADHD symptoms: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *World J Biol Psychiatry*, 22(5), 350-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15622975.2020.1813329</u>
- Parlikar, R., Vanteemar, S. S., Shivakumar, V., Narayanaswamy, C. J., Rao, P. N., & Ganesan, V. (2021). High definition transcranial direct current stimulation (HDtDCS): A systematic review on the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders. *Asian J Psychiatr*, 56, 102542. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102542</u>
- Petersen, I. T., Hoyniak, C. P., McQuillan, M. E., Bates, J. E., & Staples, A. D. (2016). Measuring the development of inhibitory control: The challenge of heterotypic continuity. *Dev Rev*, 40(0273-2297 (Print)), 25-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2016.02.001
- Peterson, B. S., Thomas, P., Kane, M. J., Scahill, L., Zhang, H., Bronen, R., King, R. A., Leckman, J. F., & Staib, L. (2003). Basal Ganglia volumes in patients with Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, 60(4), 415–424 <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.60.4.415</u>
- Poldrack, R. A. (2000). Imaging brain plasticity: conceptual and methodological issues--a theoretical review. *NeuroImage*, *12*(1), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2000.0596</u>
- Prehn, K., & Floel, A. (2015). Potentials and limits to enhance cognitive functions in healthy and pathological aging by tDCS. *Front Cell Neurosci*, *9*, 355. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2015.00355
- Ritter, M., Vangkilde, S. A., Maigaard, K., Pagsberg, A. K., Plessen, K. J., & Hagstrom, J. (2022). Inhibitory Control in Children with Tourette Syndrome Is Impaired in Everyday Life but Intact during a Stop Signal Task. J Clin Med, 11(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm11020309</u>
- Rossi, S., Antal, A., Bestmann, S., Bikson, M., Brewer, C., Brockmoller, J., Carpenter, L. L., Cincotta, M., Chen, R., Daskalakis, J. D., Di Lazzaro, V., Fox, M. D., George, M. S., Gilbert, D., Kimiskidis, V. K., Koch, G., Ilmoniemi, R. J., Lefaucheur, J. P., Leocani, L., . . . basis of this article began with a Consensus Statement from the Ifcn Workshop on "Present, F. o. T. M. S. S. E. G. S. O. u. t. A. (2021). Safety and recommendations for TMS use in healthy subjects and patient populations, with updates on training, ethical and regulatory issues: Expert Guidelines. *Clin Neurophysiol*, *132*(1), 269-306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2020.10.003</u>
- Rossini, P. M., Barker, A. T., Berardelli, A., Caramia, M. D., Caruso, G., Cracco, R. Q., Dimitrijevic, M. R., Hallett, M., Katayama, Y., Lucking, C. H., & et al. (1994). Noninvasive electrical and magnetic stimulation of the brain, spinal cord and roots: basic principles and procedures for routine clinical application. Report of an IFCN committee. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 91(2), 79-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-4694(94)90029-9</u>
- Rubia, K. (2011). "Cool" Inferior Frontostriatal Dysfunction in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Versus "Hot" Ventromedial Orbitofrontal-Limbic Dysfunction in Conduct Disorder: A Review, . *Biological Psychiatry*, 69(12), 69-e87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.09.023</u>

- Rubia, K., Halari, R., Cubillo, A., Smith, A. B., & Mohammed, A.-M., Brammer, M., Taylor, E. . (2011). Methylphenidate Normalizes Fronto-Striatal Underactivation During Interference Inhibition in Medication-Naïve Boys with Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. . *Neuropsychopharmacol*, *36*, 1575–1586. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2011.30
- Rudroff, T., Workman, C. D., Fietsam, A. C., & Kamholz, J. (2020). Response Variability in Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation: Why Sex Matters. *Front Psychiatry*, 11(585), 585. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00585</u>
- Rushworth, M. F., Hadland, K. A., Paus, T., & Sipila, P. K. (2002). Role of the human medial frontal cortex in task switching: a combined fMRI and TMS study. *J Neurophysiol*, 87(5), 2577-2592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2002.87.5.2577</u>
- Schachar, R., & Logan, G. D. (1990). Impulsivity and inhibitory control in normal development and childhood psychopathology. *Developmental Psychology*, 26(5), 710-720. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.26.5.710</u>
- Schachar, R., Mota, V. L., Logan, G. D., Tannock, R., & Klim, P. (2000). Confirmation of an inhibitory control deficit in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *J Abnorm Child Psychol*, 28(3), 227-235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1005140103162</u>
- Schachar, R., Tannock, R., Marriott, M., & Logan, G. (1995). Deficient inhibitory control in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Abnorm Child Psychol, 23(4), 411-437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01447206</u>
- Schall, J. D., Palmeri, T. J., & Logan, G. D. (2017). Models of inhibitory control. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 372(1718), 20160193. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0193
- Seideman, M. F., & Seideman, T. A. (2020). A Review of the Current Treatment of Tourette Syndrome. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther, 25(5), 401-412. <u>https://doi.org/10.5863/1551-6776-25.5.401</u>
- Sharp, D. J., Bonnelle, V., De Boissezon, X., Beckmann, C. F., James, S. G., Patel, M. C., & Mehta, M. A. (2010). Distinct frontal systems for response inhibition, attentional capture, and error processing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(13), 6106-6111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1000175107</u>
- Sheffler, Z. M., Reddy, V., & Pillarisetty, L. S. (2023). Physiology, Neurotransmitters.
- Slater-Hammel, A. T. (1960). Reliability, Accuracy, and Refractoriness of a Transit Reaction. Research Quarterly. American Association for Health, Physical Education and Recreation, 31, 217-228.
- Sturm, A., Ricketts, E. J., McGuire, J. F., Lerner, J., Lee, S., Loo, S. K., McGough, J. J., Chang, S., Woods, D. W., McCracken, J., & Piacentini, J. (2021). Inhibitory control in youth with Tourette's Disorder, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and their combination and predictors of objective tic suppressibility. *Psychiatry Res*, 304(114163), 114163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114163</u>
- Szejko, N., Lombroso, A., Bloch, M. H., Landeros-Weisenberger, A., & Leckman, J. F. (2020). Refractory Gilles de la Tourette Syndrome-Many Pieces That Define the Puzzle. *Front Neurol*, 11, 589511. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.589511</u>
- Tajadini, S., Mohammadi, N., Tahamtan, M., & Nami, M. (2019). Cathodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation to Ameliorate the Frequency and Severity of Motor Tics: A Case Study of Tourette Syndrome. *Journal of Advanced Medical Sciences and Applied Technologies*, 21-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.32598/jamsat.4.1.21</u>
- Tarsy, D., Pycock, C. J., Meldrum, B. S., & Marsden, C. D. (1978). Focal contralateral myoclonus produced by inhibition of GABA action in the caudate nucleus of rats. *Brain*, 101(1), 143-162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/101.1.143</u>

- Tepper, J. M., Wilson, C. J., & Koos, T. (2008). Feedforward and feedback inhibition in neostriatal GABAergic spiny neurons. *Brain Res Rev*, 58(2), 272-281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.10.008</u>
- Thair, H., Holloway, A. L., Newport, R., & Smith, A. D. (2017). Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS): A Beginner's Guide for Design and Implementation. *Front Neurosci*, 11, 641. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00641</u>
- Tiego, J., Testa, R., Bellgrove, M. A., Pantelis, C., & Whittle, S. (2018). A Hierarchical Model of Inhibitory Control. *Front Psychol*, 9(1339), 1339. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01339
- van den Wildenberg, W. P., van Boxtel, G. J., van der Molen, M. W., Bosch, D. A., Speelman, J. D., & Brunia, C. H. (2006). Stimulation of the subthalamic region facilitates the selection and inhibition of motor responses in Parkinson's disease. J Cogn Neurosci, 18(4), 626-636. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2006.18.4.626</u>
- Varoli, E., Pisoni, A., Mattavelli, G. C., Vergallito, A., Gallucci, A., Mauro, L. D., Rosanova, M., Bolognini, N., Vallar, G., & Romero Lauro, L. J. (2018). Tracking the Effect of Cathodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Cortical Excitability and Connectivity by Means of TMS-EEG. *Front Neurosci*, 12, 319. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00319</u>
- Verbruggen, F., Aron, A. R., Band, G. P., Beste, C., Bissett, P. G., Brockett, A. T., Brown, J. W., Chamberlain, S. R., Chambers, C. D., Colonius, H., Colzato, L. S., Corneil, B. D., Coxon, J. P., Dupuis, A., Eagle, D. M., Garavan, H., Greenhouse, I., Heathcote, A., Huster, R. J., . . . Boehler, C. N. (2019). A consensus guide to capturing the ability to inhibit actions and impulsive behaviors in the stop-signal task. *eLife*, *8*, e46323. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.46323
- Verbruggen, F., Chambers, C. D., & Logan, G. D. (2013). Fictitious inhibitory differences: how skewness and slowing distort the estimation of stopping latencies. *Psychol Sci*, 24(3), 352-362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612457390</u>
- Verbruggen, F., & Logan, G. D. (2008). Response inhibition in the stop-signal paradigm. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 12(11), 418-424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2008.07.005</u>
- Verbruggen, F., Logan, G. D., & Stevens, M. A. (2008). STOP-IT: Windows executable software for the stop-signal paradigm. *Behav Res Methods*, 40(2), 479-483. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/brm.40.2.479</u>
- Villamar, M. F., Volz, M. S., Bikson, M., Datta, A., DaSilva, A. F., & Fregni, F. (2013). Technique and Considerations in the Use of 4x1 Ring High-definition Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (HD-tDCS). *JoVE journal*, 77, e50309. <u>https://doi.org/10.3791/50309</u>
- Vince, M. A. (1948). The intermittency of control movements and the psychological refractory period. *British Journal of Psychology. General Section*, *38*(3), 149. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8295.1948.tb01150.x
- Wadsley, C. G., Cirillo, J., & Byblow, W. D. (2019). Between-hand coupling during response inhibition. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 122(4), 1357-1366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00310.2019</u>
- Wadsley, C. G., Cirillo, J., Nieuwenhuys, A., & Byblow, W. D. (2023). Comparing anticipatory and stop-signal response inhibition with a novel, open-source selective stopping toolbox. *Experimental Brain Research*, 24(2), 601-613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-022-06539-9</u>
- Wang, Z., Maia, T. V., Marsh, R., Colibazzi, T., Gerber, A., & Peterson, B. S. (2011). The neural circuits that generate tics in Tourette's syndrome. *Am J Psychiatry*, 168(12), 1326-1337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.09111692</u>

- Welford, A. T. (1967). Single-channel operation in the brain. *Acta Psychol (Amst)*, 27(1967), 5-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-6918(67)90040-6</u>
- Welsh, M. C., Friedman, S. L., Spieker, S. J., McCartney, K., & , & Philips, D. (2006). Executive functions in developing children: Current conceptualizations and questions for the future. Blackwell Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470757703.ch9</u>
- White, C. T., Eason, R. G., & Bartlett, N. R. (1962). Latency and duration of eye movements in the horizontal plane. J Opt Soc Am, 52, 210-213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1364/josa.52.000210</u>
- Williams, B. R., Ponesse, J. S., Schachar, R., Logan, G., & Tannock, R. (1999a).
 Development of inhibitory control across the life span. In (Vol. Vol 35(1), pp. 205-213).
 Developmental Psychology.
- Williams, B. R., Ponesse, J. S., Schachar, R. J., Logan, G. D., & Tannock, R. (1999b). Development of inhibitory control across the life span. *Dev Psychol*, 35(1), 205-213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0012-1649.35.1.205</u>
- Woods, A. J., Antal, A., Bikson, M., Boggio, P. S., Brunoni, A. R., Celnik, P., Cohen, L. G., Fregni, F., Herrmann, C. S., Kappenman, E. S., Knotkova, H., Liebetanz, D., Miniussi, C., Miranda, P. C., Paulus, W., Priori, A., Reato, D., Stagg, C., Wenderoth, N., & Nitsche, M. A. (2016). A technical guide to tDCS, and related non-invasive brain stimulation tools. *Clin Neurophysiol*, *127*(2), 1031-1048. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2015.11.012
- Worbe, Y., Baup, N., Grabli, D., Chaigneau, M., Mounayar, S., McCairn, K., Féger, J., & Tremblay, L. (2009). Behavioral and Movement Disorders Induced by Local Inhibitory Dysfunction in Primate Striatum. *Cerebral Cortex*, 19(8), 1844–1856. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhn214</u>
- Wright, A., Rickards, H., & Cavanna, A. E. (2012). Impulse-control disorders in gilles de la tourette syndrome. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci, 24(1), 16-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.10010013</u>
- Xu, S., Wang, W., Chen, S., Wu, Q., Li, C., Ma, X., Chen, T., Li, W., & Xu, S. (2021). Deep Brain Stimulation Complications in Patients With Parkinson's Disease and Surgical Modifications: A Single-Center Retrospective Analysis. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 15, 684895. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.684895</u>
- Yu, J., Tseng, P., Hung, D. L., Wu, S. W., & Juan, C. H. (2015). Brain stimulation improves cognitive control by modulating medial-frontal activity and preSMA-vmPFC functional connectivity. *Human brain mapping*, 36(10), 4004-4015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22893</u>
- Yu, X., & Zuo, Y. (2011). Spine plasticity in the motor cortex. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 21(1), 169-174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2010.07.010</u>
- Zaghi, S., Acar, M., Hultgren, B., Boggio, P. S., & Fregni, F. (2010). Noninvasive brain stimulation with low-intensity electrical currents: putative mechanisms of action for direct and alternating current stimulation. *Neuroscientist*, 16(3), 285-307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858409336227</u>
- Zandbelt, B. B., Bloemendaal, M., Neggers, S. F., Kahn, R. S., & Vink, M. (2013). Expectations and violations: delineating the neural network of proactive inhibitory control. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 34(9), 2015-2024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22047</u>"
- Zandbelt, B. B., & Vink, M. (2010a). On the role of the striatum in response inhibition. (1932-6203 (Electronic)).
- Zandbelt, B. B., & Vink, M. (2010b). On the role of the striatum in response inhibition. *PLoS* One, 5(11), e13848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013848</u>
- Zhou, Y., & Danbolt, N. C. (2014). Glutamate as a neurotransmitter in the healthy brain. (1435-1463).

Appendix A: Script for Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task (ARIT)

Appendix a consists of the script read to the participants prior to their completion of the Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task (ARIT). Both Norwegian and English version are included below.

Norsk versjon: Manus til Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task (ARIT)

Før øvelsesrunde:

Du vil først bli gitt en øvelsesrunde med en rekke prøver. Hver runde vil ikke starte før du holder begge taster nede med fingrene slik (demonstrer). Ikke bruk for mye kraft, for å ikke slite ut fingrene. Du vil bli testet i to ulike prøver som kommer i tilfeldig rekkefølge; såkalt «Gå» og «stopp-prøver». I både «Gå» og «Stopp» vil to søyler begynne å stige mot en mållinje. «Gå» krever at du løfter tastene for å stoppe søylene så nært mållinjen som du kan. Lykkes du, vil mållinjen bli grønn. «Stopp-prøver» består av to ulike versjoner: Stopp- begge og stopp-høyre/venstre. I stopp-begge vil begge søyler stoppe automatisk. Dette er et signal om at du IKKE skal løfte fingerene fra tastene, men isteden fortsette å holde dem nede og slik avbryte løfteresponsen din. I «Stopp høyre/venstre» vil kun èn av søylene stoppe mens den andre vil forsette å stige mot mållinjen. Dette signaliserer at du IKKE skal løfte fingeren som korresponderer med søylen som stoppet, men isteden avbryte løfteresponsen din, SAMTIDIG som den andre fingeren som samsvarer med stigende søyle skal løftes så nært som mulig til mållinjen. Hele oppgaven vil ta omkring 20 minutter.

Har du noen spørsmål? Etter prøverunden vil alt være lettere å forstå.

Etter øvelsesrunde:
Nå har du gjennomgått øvelsesrunden og oppgaven der vi registerer prestasjonen din vil begynne. Hvis du syntes det var vanskelig, så er dette helt normalt. Det er krevende. Oppgaven begynner straks du holder tastene nede. Hvis du trenger det kan du ta pauser. Prestasjonen din er ikke knyttet til hvor lang tid du sammenlagt bruker. Nå kan du begynne når du er klar.

English version: Script for Anticipatory Response Inhibition Task (ARIT)

Before practice round:

You will first be given a practice round with a series of tests. Each round will not start until you hold both keys down with your fingers like this (demonstrate). Do not use too much force, so as not to tire your fingers. Your performance will be measured on two different tests that will be presented in a randomized order; so-called "Go" and "stop trials". In both "Go" and "Stop", two columns will start to rise towards a target line. "Go" requires you to lift both keys to stop the pillars as close to the target line as possible. If you succeed, the target line will turn green. "Stop trials" consist of two different versions: Stop-both and stop-right/left. In stop-both, both columns will stop automatically. This is a signal that you should NOT lift your fingers from the keys, but instead continue to hold them down, thus interrupting your lift response. In "Stop right/left", only one of the columns will stop, while the other will continue to rise towards the target line. This signals that you are NOT to lift the finger corresponding to the rising bar is to be lifted as close as possible to the target line. The whole task will take about 20 minutes.

Do you have any questions? After the practice round, everything will be easier to understand.

After practice round:

Now you have gone through the practice round and the task where we register your performance will begin. If you found it difficult, this is completely normal. It is challenging. The task starts as soon as you hold down the keys. If you need to, you can take breaks. Your performance is not linked to how much time you spend in total.

Now you can start when you are ready.

Appendix B: Safety questionnaire for TMS/tDCS

Appendix B consists of the safety questionnaire for Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) and Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation, answered by participants upon recruitment.

TMS/TDCS Sikkerhetsspørreskjema

Hvis du godtar å delta i denne studien, vennligst svar på følgende spørsmål. Informasjonen du oppgir er kun for screeningformål og vil bli holdt fullstendig konfidensiell.

Vennligst kryss av for følgende informasjon der det gjelder deg:

Kjønn:	0	mann	Ο		kvinne
	Ο	foretr	ekker ikke å si O	binær	ikke-
Dominerende hånd:		0	venstre	haura	0
Norsk morsmål :	0	ja	O nei	nøyre	

Alder (spesifiser) ____år.

	Ja	Nei
1) Har du noen gang lidd av noen nevrologiske eller		
psykiatriske tilstander?		
Hvis JA, vennligst oppgi detaljer (type tilstand,		
varighet, gjeldende medisin osv .)		

2) Har du noen gang lidd av epilepsi, feberkramper i		
spedbarnsalderen eller hatt tilbakevendende		
besvimelsesanfall?		
3) Er det noen i din nærmeste eller fjerne familie som		
inder av epilepsi?		
Hvis JA, vennigst oppgi fornoldet ditt til det berørte		
familiemedlemmet.		
4) Lider du av migrene eller tilbakevendende		
hodepine?		
Hvis JA, vennligst oppgi detaljer (frekvens, utløsende		
laktorer, respons på medisiner osv .)		
5) Har du metall i hjernen, hodeskallen eller andre		
steder i kroppen (f.eks. kirurgiske klips, splinter,		
fragmenter osv .)?		
Hvis JA, vennligst oppgi detaljer (type metall,		
plassering osv .)		
6) Han du fan gyablikkat naa ay falganda tilnassat kuan	non din?	
Cochleaimplantat	pen um:	
Pacemaker		
Implantert nervestimulator		
Medisinnumne		
Dyn hiernestimuleringsimplantat		
7) Har du noen gang lidd av hierneskade eller		
traumer mot hodet?		
	Ja	Nei
8) Har du noen gang mistet bevisstheten eller		
besvimt?		
Hvis JA, vennligst oppgi detaljer (fra		
hodeskallebrudd, bevisstløshet, siste 6 maneder osv .)		
9) Lider du av noen alvorlige hudsykdommer (f.eks.		
nevrodermatitt, utslett)?		
Hvis JA , vennligst oppgi detaljer:		
10) Tar du for øyeblikket noen reseptfrie eller		
ioreskrevne medisiner?		

Navn med store bokstaver:		
Signatur:		Dato:
Hvis JA , vennligst oppgi detaljer:		
11) Er du gravid, eller er det noen sjanse for at du kan være det?		
12) Gjennomgår du for tiden anti- malariabehandling?		
13) Har du drukket mer enn 3 enheter alkohol i løpet av det siste døgnet?		
14) Har du drukket alkohol allerede i dag?		
15) Har du drukket mer enn én kopp kaffe, te eller andre koffeinkilder den siste timen?		
16) Har du brukt rusmidler i løpet av de siste 24 timene?		
17) Har du sovet veldig lite i natt?		
18) Har du noen gang deltatt i et hjernestimuleringseksperiment før?		
Hvis JA , vennligst oppgi siste gang du deltok i en stud	ie?	
19) Har du deltatt i mer enn 1		-
hjernestimuleringseksperiment i løpet av de siste 6 månedene?		
Hvis JA , vennligst oppgi hvor mange eksperimenter o problemer.	g om det va	ir noen

Jeg bekrefter at informasjonen ovenfor er nøyaktig så langt jeg vet.

Dette skjemaet er verifisert av (kun kvalifisert forsker):	Dato:
Utskriftsnavn:	
Signatur:	

Appendix C: Safety Questionnaire for TMS/tDCS – Session by session checklist

Appendix C includes the session by session safety questionnaire for Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation and Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation. "Session by session" refers to the checklist being answered again at each session.

TMS/TDCS Safety Questionnaire- Økt etter økt sjekkliste DETTE SKJEMAET BØR BRUKES FOR SEKUNDÆRE ØKTER; ALLE DELTAKERE MÅ FULLFØRE DET LENGRE TMS SIKKERHETSSPØRRESKJEMAET PÅ PRIMÆRØTEN OG SIGNERE FOR Å BEKREFTE AT INGENTING ER ENDRET FOR PÅFØLGENDE ØKTER.

Vennligst svar på følgende spørsmål:

Sesjonsnummer:

Dato:

	Ja	Nei
12) Gjennomgår du for tiden anti-		
malariabehandling?		
13) Har du drukket mer enn 3 enheter alkohol i		
løpet av det siste døgnet?		
14) Har du drukket alkohol allerede i dag?		
15) Har du drukket mer enn én kopp kaffe, te		
eller andre koffeinkilder den siste timen?		
16) Har du brukt rusmidler i løpet av de siste 24		
timene?		
17) Har du sovet veldig lite i natt?		
18) Har du noen gang deltatt i et		
hjernestimuleringseksperiment før?		

Hvis JA, vennligst angi når var siste gang du deltok i en studie?		
19) Har du deltatt i mer enn ett		
hjernestimuleringseksperiment i løpet av de siste 6		
månedene?		
Hvis JA, vennligst oppgi hvor mange eksperimenter og om det var noen		
problemer.		

Jeg bekrefter at informasjonen ovenfor er nøyaktig så langt jeg vet.

Navn med store bokstaver:	
Signatur:	Dato:

Appendix D: Experimenter Safety checklist

Appendix D includes experimenter guidelines. According to the responses given by participants on the safety questionnaires for TMS/tDCS, participants were either excluded,

included or the item was discussed with the main supervisor.

Sikkerhetssjekkliste – retningslinjer for forskere

Side 1 (skal <u>sjekkes</u> hver gang deltaker kommer inn for å sikre at ingenting har endret seg - signer med dato og initialer på slutten av andre side for å bekrefte at alle svar er like)

- 1. Hvis JA, noter detaljer. Sjekk med PI.
- 2. Hvis JA ekskluder.
- 3. Hvis JA Spør: Har noen i familien din (genetisk slektskap) epilepsi? Spør: Vet du om deres epilepsi er forårsaket av noe spesielt, for eksempel en hodeskade eller hjerneslag? Hvis de er i slekt gjennom ekteskap med noen med epilepsi, i stedet for genetisk relatert inkluder. Hvis de er genetisk beslektet med noen med epilepsi, men det var forårsaket av en spesifikk hendelse, for eksempel hodetraume, hjerneslag, hjernesvulst eller hjernekirurgi inkluder.

Hvis de er genetisk beslektet med noen med epilepsi, men de er ikke sikre på

om det var forårsaket av traumer, hjerneslag, hjernesvulst eller hjernekirurgi -

ekskluder.

Hvis de er genetisk beslektet til noen som opplever epilepsi, uten kjent årsak -

ekskluder. Sjekk med PI.

4. Hvis JA - Spør: Hvor ofte opplever du migrene? Spør: Vet du hva som utløser hodepinen din? Spør: Reagerer hodepinen på reseptfrie medisiner? Spør: Har du konsultert legen din om disse hodepinene?

Hvis høyfrekvent migrene/hodepine eller er i tvil (f.eks. reagerer ikke på

reseptfrie medisiner) – ekskluder.

5. Hvis JA – Spør: Var det fra et kirurgisk inngrep? Ved operasjon og usikkerhet på om noe metall implantert - ekskluder. Bortsett fra ved laserkirurgi øye, her trygt å inkludere. Spør: Hva slags metall er det? Hvis tannregulering – inkludert. Spør: Hvor befinner den seg? Hvis noe metall i hode/hals – ekskluder. Hvis annet sted i kroppen, inkludere men **sjekk med PI.**

- 6. Eventuelle JA ekskluder.
- 7. Hvis JA ekskluder.
- Hvis JA og usikker på årsak ekskluder. Hvis forårsaket hodeskallebrudd ekskluder. Hvis bevissthetstap var fra alvorlig hodetraume, i løpet av de siste 6 månedene, i flere minutter eller mer, eller forårsaket pågående problemer – ekskluder. Hvis klar årsak til besvimelse (f.eks. mangel på mat, varmt rom) og isolert hendelse – inkluder. Sjekk med PI.
- Hvis JA spør om bruk av antihistaminer. Se spørsmål 10. Pass på at det ikke er ødelagt hud (f.eks. akne eller eksem) på områder involvert i NIBS/EEG, EMG etc. Hvis hudbrudd – ekskluder.
- 10. Hvis JA, noter detaljer. Hvis p-piller inkluderer. Ellers sjekk med PI.
 Hvis du tar antihistaminer (citrizin eller loratidin) be deltakeren om å avstå

fra medisiner over natten eller stå over morgendosen hvis den tas om morgenen.

Hvis andre antihistaminer, sjekk effekten med PI. Hvis noen søvnmedisiner

(inkludert over disk), sjekk effekten med PI.

11. Hvis JA – ekskluder.

Side 2 (fylles <u>ut</u> hver gang deltaker kommer inn – bekrefter også at informasjonen på første side er korrekt)

Spørsmål 12 – 17. Hvis JA – stopp økten.

18. Hvis du har deltatt i rTMS/TDCS/TACS-eksperiment i løpet av de siste 2 dagene – stopp økten.

19. Registrer detaljer, men du trenger ikke å stoppe økten.